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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
BB

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the AEEBEFREANKEE £4& AERBEY

last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited consolidated — BFE&Z 0T » Jy¥gsE A 2 T3 2 K EXELL A
financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out below: BER  TWELEEEY E]FHHME

For the year ended 31 December
HE+ZA=+—HLEFE
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
—tF ZZE-N\F ZZE-hF ZTTF ZBZ-F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FHET

RESULTS ES
Profit/(loss) for the year REEHF, (E1E) 47,295 24,237 (125,762) 39,482 (501,014)
Attributable to: THIALFE
Owners of the Company PiN/NCIEZ =N 19,096 59,163 (104,331) (25,198) (326,942)
Non-controlling interests FEFERR R 28,199 (34,926) (21,431) 64,680 (174,072)
47,295 24,237 (125,762) 39,482 (501,014)
As at 31 December
R+-A=+—H
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
—tF ZZT-N\F ZZE-NEF ZZ-TF ZEB-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAE
Non-current assets IEMENEE 551,561 779,896 840,035 805,870 593,571
Current assets MENEE 2,077,771 3,203,089 2,335,477 2,187,925 1,934,860
Current liabilities RENBE (812,933) (2,518,951) (1,865,829) (1,656,639) (1,676,638)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (432,586) (239,629) (204,407) (96,766) (61,189)
Net Assets BEFE 1,383,813 1,224,405 1,105,276 1,240,390 790,604
Attributable to: THIA LR
Owners of the Company RARER A 734,657 1,047,318 976,740 1,049,978 764,589
Non-controlling interests JEPEAR RS 649,156 177,087 128,536 190,412 26,015
Total Equity WS B EE 1,383,813 1,224,405 1,105,276 1,240,390 790,604
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETREHE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”), | hereby
present the operational results of Tesson Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2021 to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

REVIEW

In 2021, the worldwide challenges brought by the outbreak of the novel
coronavirus disease (“COVID-19") continued, operation of various industries
was disrupted and tremendous pressure was experienced by enterprises in
general. The Group’s operation in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
was affected inevitably.

Regarding our Property and Cultural Business (as defined thereafter), on
top of the COVID-19 preventive and control measures, the heavy rainstorm
happened in spring this year in the southern part of the PRC eventually led
to unsatisfactory progress of the property development projects in Nanning,
Guangxi and Nanchang, Jiangxi. As a result, delivery of the respective property
units was postponed and thus revenue for the year dropped significantly.
The property units in these two property projects were aiming to be delivered
in 2022, while the remaining property project of the Group located in Lishui,
Nanjing was suspended following the termination of the acquisition of relevant
land parcel in the year. Considering the recent market conditions in the PRC
and the tightening of monitoring to the real estate industry imposed by the
government authority, the Group will focus on developing our projects on hand
and will not commence new property project in the near future.

Besides the impact from the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group’s Lithium lon
Motive Battery Business (as defined thereafter) was also challenged by the fire
accident occurred in the phase | production base in Weinan, Shaanxi in the
middle of 2021, fortunately no injury was caused and the scale of destruction
was acceptable by the Group. After the accident, operation was transferred to
phase Il production base which was at higher level of facilities and production
lines. Contingent plan was adopted by the management at the right time and
the effect of the fire accident to the production of battery products was not
significant. Although the operating environment is full challenges, we were
confident to overcome them and at the same time, further improve our battery
products’ quality and enlarge our product types, also broaden our customer
base.

PROSPECTS

In 2021, the Group encountered numerous difficulties. Looking forward, the
Group will keep equipping ourselves and get ready to meet future challenges.
We will keep assessing the Group’s cost control policy and actively seek
for possible business opportunities, ultimately to further enhance the gross
profit of the battery products, and diversify our business structure to capture
potential market growth.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERERE

APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to the
Board for their support, and for contributions made by the management
team and staff in the past year. Finally, |, hereby on behalf of the Board, the
management and all employees of the Group, would like to express our
heartfelt thanks for the long-time support and trust from the Shareholders,
business partners and customers.

Tin Kong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 May 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE 2R WmED AT

BUSINESS REVIEW
Lithium lon Motive Battery Business

During the year, new energy vehicle industry in the PRC developed
vigorously. Referring to the statistics of the China Association of Automobile
Manufacturers, production and sales of new energy vehicles in the PRC has
been increased by 1.6 times in the year. The home appliance market has also
rebound from the trough of the epidemic. According to the 2021 China Home
Appliance Market Report* ((20214Fr/ B R E M ISR E)) released by the China
Center for Information Industry Development, the overall home appliance
market in the PRC has basically recovered to the level before the epidemic.
The annual retail sales reached RMB881.1 billion, representing a year-on-
year increase of 5.7%. Online sales accounted for 52.9% of the overall sales
of the home appliance retail market, which had been more than 50% for
two consecutive years. With the recovery of China’s consumer market and
the sound development of the new energy industry, various light industries
continue to grow, further driving the market demand for battery products.

During the year, the Group constantly looked for quality business partners
and provided different kinds of battery products to a number of enterprises,
which mainly included household appliance manufacturers and electric
motorcycles manufacturers. Compared with traditional batteries, lithium ion
motive batteries have higher market demand due to higher energy density,
higher output power, smaller size and lighter weight, their applications have
gradually become more extensive, and can commonly be used in electronic
products, household appliances, energy storage devices, etc., it is expected
to become the mainstream batteries and replace the traditional batteries.
The Group will continue to work closely with our existing customers and also
allocate more resources to develop automobile battery products, expand
market share of electric motorcycles, and expand the sales base of electronic
products, household appliances and energy storage devices in different
categories. Under the price pressure on raw materials, the Group will maintain
its cautiousness in implementation of production strategy, in order to further
increase the gross profit of battery products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE 2R WmED AT

In late June of the year, there was a fire accident in one of the workshops in
the Group’s Phase | production base in Weinan, Shaanxi, and there were no
casualties. In the accident, certain production equipment and batteries were
burned down, the plant, some production equipment and battery products
were damaged in different levels due to blackening or water damage. In
the second half of the year, the Group transferred and repaired the affected
production equipment in batches. Some production equipment has been
relocated to the Phase Il production base, and can be used as usual after
repairment. The management re-examined the assets located at the Phase
| production base at the reporting date and concluded the equipments were
available for use. Accordingly, in the fire accident, assets that have been
burned were written off, and battery products affected were impaired resulting
a loss of approximately HK$83,997,000 Phase | production base remains
closed and has been written off. The Group has transferred the production
activities to the Phase Il production base. Compared to Phase |, Phase Il
production base contained newer and more advanced equipment, more
automated production lines and smoother production flow. Therefore, the
accident did not have a significant impact on the production activities of the
Group’s Lithium lon Motive Battery Business.

Property and Cultural Business

According to the original plan, the Group intended to transfer some residential
units in Rongzhou Gangjiucheng* (BM& JL¥) located in Nanchang, Jiangxi,
being the main property project of the Group. However, the construction had
to follow specific epidemic prevention measures, including regular whole-site
disinfection and quarantine in accordance to the guideline at the time being
for some of the engineering staff before report duty. Furthermore, starting
from May of this year, southern part of the PRC had generally been affected
by rainstorm, rainfall in Jiangxi Province in May even hit a record high for the
same period in history. Various factors ultimately led to the unsatisfactory
construction progress, handover of residential units has been extended to
2022. As a result, no income was recorded from the transfer of residential
units in Rongzhou Gangjiucheng* during the year. With the downturn in
property market in Nanchang, impairment loss on properties for sale under
development at approximately HK$54,391,000 was recognised during the
year.

Another project of the Group, Fengxiang Terrace — Rongzhou Cultural
Center* (BLFI & — AN Z{EAH L), was located in Nanning, Guangxi, adjacent
to Qingxiu Shan national 5A-level scenic spot, connected to the business
area of the city with comprehensive ancillary facilities and transport network.
The presale of Fengxiang Terrace* started in late-2019 and had satisfactory
sales performance that the residential units available for sale were fully
subscribed. For the remaining property units, an impairment of approximately
HK$75,693,000 was recorded in view of the downturn in property market. The
project was currently partially completed and was scheduled to be handed
over in the second quarter of 2022.

8 Tesson Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In addition, in November this year, the Group reached a consensus with
Nanjing Bureau of Land and Resources* (A =M B+ & J8 ®) (the “Vendor”)
to terminate a land transaction of a commercial and residential land parcel in
Lishui District in 2018. The site covered an area of 104,600.43 square meters
and was originally planned to be developed into a residential and commercial
complex. Pursuant to the terms of the acquisition, the Group undertook
to introduce not less than ten new energy experts from overseas, Taiwan,
Hong Kong or Macau with specific qualifications and expertise recognised
by the relevant parties of the Vendor to Lishui District. As less than ten new
energy experts were finally accepted, the two parties mutually agreed to
terminate the acquisition, the Vendor would refunded all relevant consideration
and tax to the Group in phase, the Group suffered a loss of approximately
HK$5,812,000, mainly represented the design fees, survey fees and other
project fees. For more information, please refer to the announcements dated (i)
18 October 2018, 8 November 2018, 16 November 2018, 30 November 2018
and 24 November 2021; and (i) the circular dated 5 December 2018.

Following by the termination, the Group encounters bottleneck in its future
property development business. The management keeps actively seeking
suitable land parcels for new property development project. However, having
considered various factors including location, infrastructure, development
scale and provincial market conditions, no land parcel was determined
suitable for future development. The Group will not commence new property
development project in the near future, and is considering the possibility of
ceasing our property development business gradually. As the Group’s goodwill
was derived from the Property and Cultural Business, specifically, its property
development units, the change in business plan eventually led to a significant
impairment on the goodwill, which was a non-cash item and did not impact
the Group’s cash flows and operations.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

With the recovery of economic activities and booming market conditions
across China, the Group will continue to optimize the allocation of resources,
strengthen the academic and industrial background of the international
research and development team to further improve product quality and
develop more battery products targeting on home appliances and electric
motorcycles, in order to occupy a place in the increasingly competitive lithium
ion motive battery market. Under the volatile international situation and the
impact of the COVID-19 epidemic, the Group will continue to focus on its
Lithium lon Motive Battery Business, at the same time actively seize other
business opportunities and eventually realise a balanced and diversified
business model.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE 2R WmED AT

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue and gross profit ratio
Lithium lon Motive Battery Business

During the year, the Group continued to expand our customer base and
the application of our battery products to different applications. Revenue
contributed from the Lithium lon Motive Battery Business increased to
approximately HK$157,691,000 (2020: HK$149,171,000). The Group will
continue our strategy of diversifying customer base, at the same time reduce
overhead cost and promote more efficient working environment in order to
further improve gross profit to our battery products.

Property and Cultural Business

During the year, no revenue was generated from handover of residential units
due to the delay in handover of Rongzhou Gangjiucheng* as abovementioned.
Revenue of the property segment represented sales of commercial units and
car park units amounted to approximately HK$537,000. Whereas in the prior
year, revenue of HK$603,833,000 was recorded and a total gross floor area of
66,640 square meters had been delivered.

After the COVID-19 outbreak in the PRC eventually be stabilised, themed
museums re-opened and more exhibitions were conducted, revenue from the
cultural business slightly increased to approximately HK$10,918,000 (2020:
HK$9,887,000).

Other income

Other income for the year ended 31 December 2021 increased to
approximately HK$15,863,000 (2020: HK$5,331,000), mainly due to the
increase in gain on disposal of scrap products to approximately HK$3,469,000
(2020: HK$1,376,000), and the rise in government grant to approximately
HK$4,725,000 (2020: HK$2,213,000).

Distribution and selling expenses

During the year, the Group incurred distribution and selling expenses at
approximately HK$14,679,000 which was comparable to that in 2020 at
approximately HK$15,309,000. The expenses mostly represented staff
costs of approximately HK$7,178,000 (2020: HK$5,272,000), and travelling
and entertainment expenses of approximately HK$3,362,000 (2020:
HK$2,837,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Administrative expenses, impairment losses and written-off on
various assets

Administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 2021 increased to
approximately HK$178,757,000 from approximately HK$162,930,000 in 2020.
The increase was mainly resulted from the rise in research and development
cost from approximately HK$5,947,000, to HK$13,906,000, as well as the
new internet sales business at the amount of approximately HK$2,349,000
operated by the Group during the year.

The Group also recorded certain impairment loss and written-off on various
assets during the year. The amounts represented (i) written-off and impairment
of certain inventory and property, plant and equipment as a result of a fire
accident of the Group’s production base in Weinan, Shaanxi occurred in
late June 2021 amounted to approximately HK$83,997,000 in aggregate; (ii)
impairment loss on properties for sale under development at approximately
HK$130,084,000 (2020: nil) in order to reflect its net realisable value; (i)
impairment on goodwill amounted to approximately HK$106,855,000 (2020:
nil) made after consideration of the latest planning of future business model
and lower expected future profit of the subsidiary; (iv) impairment on trade
and other receivables at the sum of approximately HK$48,127,000 (2020:
HK$2,291,000); and (v) full impairment on interests in joint venture amounted
to approximately HK$10,180,000 (2020: nil) in view of the unlikelinood of
recovery of the amount invested.

Finance costs

Finance costs net of interests capitalised in the year decreased to
approximately HK$9,642,000 (2020: HK$12,951,000), the reduction was
due to the settlement of the interest-bearing part of the amount due to the
Controlling Shareholder and the early redemption of Convertible Bonds in
2020.

Basic and diluted loss per share
Basic and diluted loss per share in the year ended 31 December 2021 were

both HK26.92 cents (2020: HK2.11 cents).

In anticipation of the funds required for the development of the Lithium lon
Motive Battery Business, the Board does not recommend the payment of a
final dividend for the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE 2R WmED AT

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group maintained sufficient working capital as at 31 December 2021
with net current assets of approximately HK$258,222,000 (31 December
2020: HK$531,286,000) and bank and cash balances of approximately
HK$12,643,000 (31 December 2020: HK$15,109,000). The gearing ratio of
the Group (which was expressed as a percentage of total borrowings over
total equity) was about 26.25% as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020:
20.24%).

EMPLOYMENT

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had approximately 589 employees (2020:
504), most of whom were working in the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC.
During the year, the total employees’ costs including Directors’ emoluments
were approximately HK$70,265,000 (2020: HK$68,191,000).

The Group has developed its human resources policies and procedures based
on performance and merit. Employees are rewarded on a performance basis
within the general framework of its salary and bonus system. Discretionary
bonus is linked to the performance of the Group as well as individual
performance. Benefits include staff accommodation, medical schemes, share
option scheme, Mandatory Provident Fund for employees in Hong Kong and
state — sponsored retirement plans for employees in the PRC. The Group
has also developed training programs for its management and employees to
promote career advancement of the staffs.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Since sales and purchase for the Lithium lon Motive Battery Business and the
Property and Cultural Business are denominated in RMB, the management
considers that the Group’s exposure to exchange risks is minimal. However,
the Company faces foreign exchange risks when it conducts fund raising
activities in Hong Kong (in HK$) and remits funds to its subsidiaries in the PRC
(in RMB). The Board will continue to monitor foreign exchange exposure in the
future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities (2020: nil).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of pledged assets as at 31 December 2021 are set out in Note 28 to
the consolidated financial statements.

USAGE OF FUND PROCEEDS

On 25 June 2021, the Company entered into the placing agreement with
Cheong Lee Securities Limited (“Placing Agent”) pursuant to which the
Placing Agent has agreed to place, on a best effort basis, to not less than six
independent Placees for up to 75,000,000 new shares at a price of HK$0.40
per placing share, for and on behalf of the Company. On 20 July 2021,
the Company completed placing of 40,008,000 shares at the placing price
(“Placing”). The net proceeds from the Placing (after deducting professional
fees and other relevant expenses) amounted to approximately HK$15,640,000,
were intended to be used for the purpose of general working capital of the
Company. During the year ended 31 December 2021, all of the net proceeds
were utilised as intended, including the settlement of professional fees, staff
costs and general office expenses. Details of the Placing were disclosed in the
Company’s announcements dated 25 June 2021 and 20 July 2021.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2021, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEAEBTN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tin Kong

Mr. Tin Kong (“Mr. Tin”), aged 61, is a Hong Kong resident. Mr. Tin has been
executive Director of the Company and the chairman of the Board since 27
August 2015 and has been appointed as the chief executive officer of the
Company on 1 August 2019. He has been an authorised representative of
the Company, the chairman of the nomination committee and internal control
committee of the Company, and a member of remuneration committee of the
Company since March 2016. Mr. Tin holds directorships in certain subsidiaries
of the Company. He is also a director of Double Key International Limited, the
controlling shareholder of the Company. He graduated from the Department of
Economics and Management in Beijing Academy of Cultural Administration* (it
P BREERERLCHEEIRER).

Ms. Cheng Hung Mui

Ms. Cheng Hung Mui (“Ms. Cheng”), aged 51, is a Hong Kong resident and
an individual investor. Ms. Cheng was appointed as an executive Director
of the Company on 27 June 2014. Ms. Cheng is the beneficial owner and
director of Double Key International Limited, the controlling shareholder of the
Company.

Mr. Chan Wei

Mr. Chan Wei (“Mr. Chan”), aged 44, has been the chief financial officer,
company secretary and authorised representative of the Company since 7
March 2016 and has been appointed as an executive Director of the Company
on 28 July 2021. He is also a supervisor of a subsidiary of the Group. Mr.
Chan served as an independent non-executive director of Elegance Optical
International Holdings Limited (Stock code: 0907) from 26 April 2017 to
17 April 2018. Before joining the Company, he worked in a listed company
as financial controller. Mr. Chan is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Chan obtained the degree of a Bachelor
of Science in applied accounting from the Oxford Brookes University. He has
over 19 years of experience in auditing, accounting and financial advisory.

Ms. Liu Liu (also known as Liu Xiaoqing)

Ms. Liu Liu (“Ms. Liu”), aged 36, was appointed as an executive Director of
the Company on 28 July 2021. She is currently a legal representative and an
executive director of Oriental Galaxy (Beijing) Cultural Media Co., Ltd.* (8275
$51 (Jb ) LB AR A &), which is a subsidiary of the Company. She
is also the vice-director (2|32 %K) of each of the Live Webcast & Short Video
Professional Committee (#94% EIFELE R IAE % ZE 5 ) and the Electronic
Commerce Professional Committee (B FREHEEZEE <€) of the China
Electronics Chamber of Commerce (R E F®). Ms. Liu has more than
17 years of experience in film and television production and brand planning,
marketing and promotion. Since 2004, Ms. Liu has been participating in the
publisher and producer team of a number of film and television products,
including several award-winning TV series which have become the top TV
series in the annual audience ratings or click through rates in the first-tier
satellite TV or multi-media platforms. From 2014, Ms. Liu has tapped into the
China TV shopping industry and has built up her team in providing various
brand planning, marketing and promotion services in live stream e-commerce.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Jinlin

Mr. Wang Jinlin (“Mr. Wang”), aged 57, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 24 March 2015. He is a member of
the audit committee, the remuneration committee, the nomination committee
and the internal control committee of the Company. Mr. Wang graduated
from Zhejiang University and obtained a bachelor’s degree in 1984. He is
a senior engineer and used to serve as deputy general manager of Jiaxing
Silk Spinning Factory* (3z B148%45 /&), deputy general manager and general
manager of Zhejiang Jinying Silk Spinning Co., Ltd.* (T % B4 B A7),
and deputy general manager of Zhejiang Jinying Holding Limited, possessing
rich experience in corporate management and practice. He was a member of
CPPC of Jiaxing, a director of Chinese Silk Industry Association* (F B #4 43
T #1®) and vice chairman of the silk spinning branch of the Chinese Silk
Industry Association.

Dr. Ng Ka Wing

Dr. Ng Ka Wing (“Dr. Ng”), aged 65, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company on 8 March 2016. He is the chairman
of the remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee, the
nomination committee and the internal control committee of the Company.
Dr. Ng received a Doctor Honoris Causa of Business Administration in
Manufacturing and Services from International American University in April
2019. In the same year, he is elevated as the honorary life chairman of Hong
Kong Bus Suppliers Association. Dr. Ng has extensive experience in the
manufacturing of motor vehicles. He is now the managing director of a bus
manufacturer.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEAEBTN

Mr. See Tak Wah

Mr. See Tak Wah (“Mr. See”), aged 58, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 27 January 2017. He is the
chairman of the audit committee and a member of the remuneration
committee, the nomination committee and the internal control committee of
the Company. Mr. See graduated from the Management School of Waikato
University in New Zealand with first class honours in Bachelor of Management
Studies. He is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Australia
and New Zealand, a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

Mr. See has over 35 years of experience in financial and general management
as he previously worked as the regional business controller of Nokia Mobile
Phones Asia Pacific, the managing director of Nokia Mobile Phones Hong
Kong, the chief operating officer of First Mobile Group Holdings Limited, and
held key management positions in the North Asia offices of Philips and Siemens.
From 2004 to 2016, Mr. See was appointed as an independent non-executive
director and the chairman of the audit committee and a member of the
nomination committee of Unisplendour Technology (Holdings) Limited (formerly
known as Sun East Technology (Holdings) Limited) (Stock Code: 0365), Mr.
See joined Chu Kong Petroleum and Natural Gas Steel Pipe Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 01938) in 2010 to 2019 and was appointed as an independent
non-executive director and chairman of audit committee. Mr. See has also
been an independent non-executive director, chairman of the audit committee,
a member of the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of
Enviro Energy International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 01102) in 2020 to
2021.

Mr. See currently runs his own boutique management consultancy practice
focusing on business strategies formulation and transformation consultation. In
addition, he is currently an independent non-executive director and chairman
of the audit committee and a member of the nomination committee and the
remuneration committee of Lever Style Corporation (Stock Code: 01346).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zhong Dong Feng

Mr. Zhong Dong Feng (“Mr. Zhong”), aged 53, has been employed as the
deputy chief executive officer of the Group since May 2018, and is fully
responsible for operations of the Property and Cultural Business. Mr. Zhong
graduated from the Jiangxi University of Science and Technology (formerly
known as Southern Institute of Metallurgy) in July 1991, and has professional
qualification of Project Cost Management. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
Zhong had served as the head of different departments of Jiangxi Provincial
Government. He has over 30 years of experience in provincial development
and operations management.

LITHIUM ION MOTIVE BATTERY BUSINESS

Mr. Yang Chaohui

Mr. Yang Chaohui (“Mr. Yang”), aged 48, has been employed as the financial
controller of a subsidiary of the Group since August 2019, and is responsible
for the financial management and accounting function of the Lithium lon
Motive Battery Business. Mr. Yang is a Certified Public Accountant in the
PRC. He graduated from the Central University of Finance and Economics
with a bachelor’s degree in Public Finance, and has over 25 years of working
experience in accounting and financial management.

Mr. Zhao Qi Rong

Mr. Zhao Qi Rong (“Mr. Zhao”), aged 46, has been the vice president
of a subsidiary of the Group from May 2017 to September 2020, and is
responsible for managing the operation of the Lithium lon Motive Battery
Business in Nanjing Research Institute. Mr. Zhao graduated from the Tianjin
University of Technology with a bachelor’s degree in Chemical Engineering
and Technology. He has over 19 years of working experience in the design
and production of lithium batteries.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEAEBTN

Mr. Niu Wen Tao

Mr. Niu Wen Tao (“Mr. Niu”), aged 37, has been employed as the deputy
general manager of a subsidiary of the Group since April 2016, and is
responsible for product design, development and technical management
of battery packs, and construction planning of the battery production line
and plant. Mr. Niu holds a college degree in Applied Electronic Technology
from Tianjin Modern Vocational Technology College. He has over 14 years of
working experience in design and development of battery pack products.

PROPERTY AND CULTURAL BUSINESS

Ms. Cheng Li Zhen

Ms. Cheng Li Zhen (“Ms. Cheng"), aged 49, has been employed as the
financial controller of a subsidiary of the Group since May 2018, and is fully
responsible for the financial management, accounting and treasury functions
of the Property and Cultural Business. Ms. Cheng graduated from the Bangor
University, United Kingdom with a master’s degree in Business Administration
in 2015 and a bachelor degree of Accounting from the School of Economics
and Trades, Jiangxi Agricultural University in 1995. She has over 19 years of
experience in accounting and financial management.

Mr. Yang Ai Ping

Mr. Yang Ai Ping (“Mr. Yang”), aged 49, has been employed as the deputy
general manager of a subsidiary of the Group since November 2018, and
is responsible for management and operation of the Property and Cultural
Business. Mr. Yang graduated from the Suzhou Institute of Environmental
Protection for Urban Construction* (&R i % IR R IR ZEE L) which was
merged with Suzhou Railway Teachers College* (% /N #2:& A 3 £2f%) and
became Suzhou University of Science and Technology, and has obtained
professional qualification of Industrial and Civil Buildings in 1994. He has over
21 years of experience in project management.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEREE

The Board is pleased to present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the Bermuda, and
its principal place of business in Hong Kong is Room 401A, Empire Centre, 68
Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in Lithium lon Motive Battery Business and
Property and Cultural Business during the year.

The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements. Further discussion and analysis of these
activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of The Laws of Hong Kong), can be found in the Management Discussion and
Analysis set out on pages 7 to 13 of this Annual Report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are
set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHARGES ON GROUP’S ASSETS

Details of the charges on the Group’s assets are set out in Note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.

COMMITMENTS

Details of the commitments of the Group are set out in Note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

The Company raised approximately HK$15,640,000 (after deducting
professional fees and other relevant expenses), by way of placement of
40,008,000 new shares at the price of HK$0.40 per placing share. The Placing
was completed on 20 July 2021. Details on usage of fund are set out in “Usage
of Fund Proceeds” in Management Discussion and Analysis.

As at 31 December 2021, the Company’s issued share capital is
HK$123,649,370 and the total number of its issued ordinary shares is
1,236,493,700 shares of HK$0.10 each.

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out in Note
31 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEREE

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out on page 54 of this Annual Report and Note 32 to the
consolidated financial statement. The Company had no distributable reserves
as at 31 December 2021.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tin Kong (Chairman)

Ms. Cheng Hung Mui

Mr. Chan Wei (appointed on 28 July 2021)
Ms. Liu Liu (appointed on 28 July 2021)

Mr. Chen Dekun (retired on 25 June 2021)
Mr. Sheng Siguang (retired on 25 June 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. Ng Ka Wing

Mr. See Tak Wah

Mr. Wang Jinlin

By virtue of bye-law 87 of the bye-laws of the Company, Mr. Tin Kong and Ms.
Cheng Hung Mui shall retire by rotation and being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

By virtue of bye-law 86 of the bye-laws of the Company, Mr. Chan Wei and Ms.
Liu Liu shall hold office only until the forthcoming annual general meeting and
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensations).

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Ms. Cheng Hung Mui, Mr. Tin Kong and Ms. Liu Liu, each an
executive Director, entered into a service agreement with the Company for a
term of 2 years commencing from 27 June 2014, 27 August 2015 and 28 July
2021, respectively.

Mr. Wang Jinlin, an independent non-executive Director, has entered into a
service agreement with the Company for a term of 2 years commencing from
24 March 2015.

Mr. Chan Wei, an executive Director, entered into service agreement with the
Company for a term of 3 years commencing from 28 July 2021.

Dr. Ng Ka Wing and Mr. See Tak Wah, both of which are independent non-
executive Directors, were appointed on 8 March 2016 and 27 January 2017,
respectively, without service agreement and specific term.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2021, according to the register kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO and, so far as is known to the Directors,
the persons or entities who had an interest or a short position in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company (the “Shares”) which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO or who were, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more
of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of the Company, or of any other company
which is a member of the Group, or in any options in respect of such share
capital are as follows:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHREE

FERREEMATRROREBR
Rz ERRKE

R-ZB-_—F+"A=+—0 REAQFKRE
7 K G 5RD) S5 336 IR M B F M B LA sl &
SRA - RARBB D SRR ([ R4 |)
BRAREE S MG RPIEXVELSE2 K 5230 #R &
XAARNRRE R IRR - HERNEEE
BEEMIBFERTHEARRBHAEBERMEMK
BRRMBERRGRERNEMERRRAEESR
BRSO 2 TR 2 5% 3 A LA /Y
ALHEERNT

Long positions ey
Number of Percentage of the
issued ordinary total issued
Name of substantial Shares held/ share capital
Shareholder Note Capacity underlying Shares of the Company
FFERITEER HADRERT
TERRHSE BB i -g7) HERERG A RABEz2ADL
Cheng Hung Mui 7 Interest of controlled corporation 775,894,533 62.75%
4T 1 ZAEHLEE 2 S
Double Key International Limited 1 Beneficial owner 775,894,533 62.75%
BEEEE AR AR EnEEA
Leung Ka Chun Beneficial owner 101,824,000 8.23%
2Kk EmEaA
Note Kt
1 The entire issued share capital of Double Key International Limited is wholly 1 BEERRER AR ZEMEETRARNTES

owned by Ms. Cheng Hung Mui, an executive Director. Therefore, Ms. Cheng
Hung Mui is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Double Key
International Limited pursuant to the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Company has not
been notified by any persons (other than the Directors and chief executive of
the Company, whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short position in the shares and underlying shares”
below), who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company which would fall to be disclosable to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITION IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which the Directors and chief
executive were deemed or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO),
or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded
in the register therein, or were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
the directors of Company as set out in Appendix 10 to (the “Model Code”)
the Rules of Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) were as follows:

(i) Long positions in the issued Shares

EERETBTHRASRARS - HER
PRESFZERERAR

RZE-—F+-A=+—8 ARAREERE
BITBABRARARIREEAEEEZE(TER
BHELHABKROEXVES) < &n - HERH &E
FHREATAREE S R EEMNEXVIBET R
8D EBAMEGARRI MR R AR (B
RIEEHMAERAIEHEEXESREZETHA
BWSE AN WEEREE CBERAR) « HIRIE
B N BB 60 22 362 16 7R A0 8k P SR ISPt 2
Bt Em AR - ARBBZMES LT
FANT ERRR DS E s AR T ERETT
BHER G2 IZETFA([ZESFR ) BHEARAF]
DRz Em AT

(i) HNEBTRHOZER

Percentage of

Number of the total issued
Capacity or issued ordinary share capital
Name of Director Note nature of interests Shares held of the Company
e 81T HARARE BT
BEERE Wt SHEEENE ZRRHE RAEE B DL
Cheng Hung Mui 1 Interest of controlled corporation 775,894,533 62.75%
AT RIETNEE <
Note Ktat
1 The entire issued share capital of Double Key International Limited is wholly 1 BEBBRERARZEIEEITRANEH

owned by Ms. Cheng Hung Mui, an executive Director. Therefore, Ms.
Cheng Hung Mui is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Double
Key International Limited pursuant to the SFO.

(i) Long positions in the shares of the associated corporations

TEFBAELL2ERES - At - BE
EHRAGGD - BABLZTREBRE
EEIBRAR A R AR AR o fE A s o

(i) REBSEEROGZEHFR

Percentage
of interest in

Name of Number of the associated

Name of Director Nature of interests associated corporation Shares held corporation
IhEE s R

EEgE EntE HEEE S8 RO EE 2Bt
Cheng Hung Mui Corporate interest Double Key International Limited 100 100%

LIFAR s AEERE ERERBRAR
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Apart from the foregoing, as at 31 December 2021, none of the
Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had or was deemed
to have any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares
or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (i) to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii)
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein; or (iii) are otherwise required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Share Option Scheme

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted pursuant
to the special general meeting of the Company held on 13 June 2012 for
the primary purpose of providing incentives to selected participants for
their contribution to the Group, and will expire on 12 June 2022. Under the
Scheme, the Board may grant options to all Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) and any full time/part time employees of the Group,
and any participants from time to time determined by the Board as having
contributed or may contribute to the development and growth of the Group to
subscribe for shares in the Company.

In each grant of options, the Board may at its discretion determine the specific
exercise period and exercise price. The exercise price shall not be less than
the highest of (i) the closing price of Shares on the Stock Exchange on the
date of the offer of grant; (ii) the average closing price of Shares on the Stock
Exchange for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer
of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Shares. A consideration of HK$1.0 is
payable by grantees on acceptance of the offer of the grant of an option.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the total number of Shares available for
issue under the Scheme was 119,648,570 Shares which represented 9.68%
of the total number of ordinary shares of the Company in issue. The number
of shares in respect of which options may be granted to any individual is not
permitted to exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company for the
time being.

From the date of adoption of the Scheme and up to 31 December 2021,
a total of 24,300,000 share options to subscribe for a total of 24,300,000
Shares were granted by the Company under the Scheme, and all of the share
options have lapsed.

—EC-FERE
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Details of the movements of the share options granted under the Scheme as R-ZT-—F+_-F=+—0  REZ:T2HEH

at 31 December 2021 are as follows: BRI BFIFOT
Number of Share Options
RS E
Closing Price Outstanding
of the Shares ~ Outstanding  Granted and Cancelled/ options
Exercise  immediately options as at accepted Exercised Lapsed as at
Name of director/ Priceper  before the 1 January during during during 31 December
employee Date of Grant Exercisable period Share  date of grant 2021 the year the year the year 2021
RZB=-% RZB=-%
SERL -A-8 tZh=1-H
BEEN  EROEZ Fhg FRE  HAfTHEZ
E3/EE%R RiAE 8 BRORE  ROWHE BRE REREG  FREAR  EE/&N e
HKS HK$
-7 A1
Director
£
Tin Kong / 1/2016 T1/11/2017 0 10/11/2021 0.8 0.8 600,000 - - (600,000) -
i “EF-7Et-A1-H ;_t¢$ At-BZ
3z ¢+ ATH
11172016 / 1201810 10/11/2021 0.85 085 600,000 - - (600,000) -
“E-ET-A1-H Wif At-B%
:T:—¢+ A+H
1/11/2016 11/11/2019 0 10/11/2021 0.8 0.8 800,000 - - (800,000) -
“F-7Et+-A1-H _%_HE$ At-A%
B -E4-A1A
Chan Wei (appointedon ~ 11/11/2016 11/11/2017 t0 10/11/2021 0.85 0.85 600,000 - - (600,000 -
28 July 2021) B Et-AT-8 >—t¢+ Rt-RZ
RER-Z--% _FC ﬁJr A+H
tAZT\REZf) / 1/2016 1111/2018 t0 10/11/2021 0.8 0.8 600,000 - - (600,000) -
°F A¢+ H+ = :K_Aﬁf_ﬂ+_5§
i e
11/11/2016 11/11/2019 t0 10/11/2021 0.85 0.85 800,000 = = (800,000) =
“F-7Ft-B1-H “E-NET-AT-RE
Z2--51-f1A
Chen Dekun (retiredon  11/11/2016 11/11/2017t010/11/2021 085 0.85 300,000 - = (300,000) =
25 June 2021) ZENEt-At-B  ZE-tEt-At-BE
REs(R-2_—F :;:*¢+ A+H
NAZTRERE) 11112016 11/11/2018 to 10/11/2021 085 0.8 300,000 - - (300,000) -
“EF-7E+-A1-H :2—A¢$_H+_E§
Z2--E1-A1A
1/11/2016 11/11/2019 t0 10/11/2021 085 0.85 400,000 - = (400,000) =
2 NET-AT-H :, n¢+ Rt-RZE
i
Sub-total: 5,000,000 = = (6,000,000) =
bt
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Number of Share Options
EERE
Closing Price Outstanding
ofthe Shares ~ Outstanding  Granted and Cancelled/ options
Exercise  immediately options as at accepted Exercised Lapsed as at
Name of director/ Priceper  before the 1 January during during during 31 December
employee Date of Grant Exercisable period Share  date of grant 2021 the year the year the year 2021
RZB=-F RZB=-F
SERL -A-H tZR=t-8
BEEN  BROEZ Fhg FRE  HAfTEZ
3 /a7 RiAE e ERORE  ROWHE BRE HLREG  FREAE  HE/AN e
HKS HK$
B A
Senior Management 1/11/2016 11/11/2017 t0 10/11/2021 0.85 085 2,850,000 - - (2,850,000) -
(in aggregate) “5-3E+-At-B  Z5-tE+-Af+-BZ
BREEAZ ZR--E1-A1H
() 11/11/2016 11/11/2018 10 10/11/2021 085 085 2,850,000 - - (2,850,000) -
ZEREF-At-B ZE-N\Et-AT-BE
“2_-%t-ATH
1/11/2016 111120190 10/11/2021 0.8 0.8 3,800,000 - - (3,800,000) -
SEAET-AT-B CE-AET-AT-RE
ZEC-FT-ATH
Sub-total: 9,500,000 - - (9,500,000) -
bt
Total: 14,500,000 - - (14,500,000 -
LR
CHANGES OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION EEERNEH

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes of Directors’  1RIE EMARRIZE13.51B(1)ik - EFER ZHEH
information are set out below. FIGAR ©

Mr. See Tak Wah resigned as an independent non-executive director, FMEEXREN T - —Ft AN ABHERERR
chairman of the audit committee, a member of the remuneration committee AR 2 B (RMAR5E - 01102) BB L IEBAT
and the nomination committee of Enviro Energy International Holdings Limited =% ~ EZZB@EXRARFHZEE MERZR
(Stock Code: 01102) on 9 July 2021. =R g=

Following the retirement of each of Mr. Chen Dekun and Mr. Sheng Siguang ~ FEZFRIEIHEE RBEREAENR —F - —F XA

as an executive Director at the conclusion of the annual general meeting of — THABRITHARRBRRBF KRG REHNT
the Company held on 25 June 2021, Mr. Chan Wei and Ms. Liu Liu were EF @ BREEERZIMZETHR T - —F+ A
appointed as executive Directors on 28 July 2021. T+ NBEZEARITES -

The appointment of Mr. Chan Wei is for an initial term of 3 years and would ~ FRIEEAEMERVFZ RE=F - KK SHE - I
continue thereafter unless and until a notice of termination is served by either ~FEMEZEEHR —HHEHKILBAASILE - FKIARE
party. He is also entitled to receive a director’s fee of HK$180,000 per annum  WHRE 180,000/ 7T 2 B F# & K& & 900,000
and salary of HK$900,000 per annum, together with any other emolument. BT w5 - EREMEMEE -
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The appointment of Ms. Liu is for an initial term of 2 years and would continue
thereafter unless and until a notice of termination is served by either party. She
is also entitled to receive a director’s fee of HK$180,000 per annum and salary
of HK$1,020,000 per annum, together with any other emolument.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, there were no changes of
Directors’ information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of
the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors had any interests in competing business
of the Company which was required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of
the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBT SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in this Directors’ report and Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements in relation to the Scheme, at no time during the year
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable any Directors (including their spouses or children under 18 years of
age) to have any right to subscribe for securities of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

As at the end of the year ended 31 December 2021 or at any time during
the year, (a) there was no contract of significance between the Company or
any of its subsidiary companies, and a controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries; and (b) there was no contract of significance for the provision of
services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

As at the end of the year ended 31 December 2021 or at any time during
the year, there was no contract of significance in relation to the Company’s
business, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party,
subsisted, and in which a Director had, whether directly or indirectly, a material
interest.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. Ng Ka Wing, Mr. See Tak Wah and Mr. Wang Jinlin, the
annual confirmation of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers that all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, sales to the five largest customers
of the Group accounted for approximately 33% of the Group’s total revenue
for the year. In particular, sales to the largest customer of the Group
accounted for approximately 8% of the Group’s total revenue for the year.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, approximately 66% of the Group’s
purchases were attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers. In particular,
purchases from the largest supplier of the Group accounted for approximately
51% of the Group’s total purchase for the year.

As far as the Directors are aware, neither the Directors nor any of their
associates nor any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
beneficial interests in any of the Group’s five largest customers or five largest
suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2021.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee having regard to the Company’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws, or
the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in Note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements. These related party transactions (i) did not constitute
connected transactions/continuing connected transactions or, (i) constituted
connected transactions/continuing connected transactions but were exempted
from all disclosure and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial conditions, results of operations and business would
be affected by numerous risks and uncertainties including market risk,
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme is shown in Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

Employees

The Group considers employees as the key to success and continues to
implement people-oriented policy in human resources management, including
the offer of appropriate training programs, performance linked discretionary
bonus, and implement a sound and complete performance appraisal system
to promote career advancement and opportunity of the staff.

Customers and Suppliers

The Group maintained sound relationships with its customers and suppliers,
and also committed to provide excellent products with outstanding services to
our customers in order to build up and maintain sustainable relationships.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, as far as the Company is aware,
there was no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

In accordance with bye-law 166 of the bye-laws of the Company, the
Directors and other officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any
of them, their or any of their heirs, executors or administrators, shall or may
incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or
about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices
or trusts, provided that any such persons has not committed any fraud or
dishonesty.

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors was in force
as of the date of this report and during the financial year ended 31 December
2021. The Company has maintained directors and officers liability insurance
for the directors of the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors of the Company, the Company has maintained
a sufficient public float as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
(“ESG”) SUMMARY

The Group is committed to conducting our business in an environmentally
sound manner and has adopted the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide as required by the Listing Rules. The Board will continue
to monitor such policies to ensure the Company remains compliant with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company
in relation to the environment, employment, labor and operation. In addition to
carrying out the corporate-wide programs the Company has initiated, all of our
employees are required to be familiar with environmental laws and regulations
relevant to their employment responsibilities and to comply with them. Details
of the above information are set out in our ESG report.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2021 are
set out in Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRES

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021 was audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited. ZHONGHUI
ANDA CPA Limited will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and
a resolution for their re-appointment as the auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board
Tesson Holdings Limited

Tin Kong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 May 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the principles
(the “Principles”) and code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) as set out in
the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG
Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The Company and the Directors strive to follow the internal control manuals
and put in place sufficient resources to comply with the CG Code. During the
year ended 31 December 2021, save for the deviations disclosed below, the
Company had complied with all the applicable provisions set out in the CG
Code:

According to the Code Provision A.4.1 of the CG Code (the provision was
deleted on 1 January 2022), non-executive Directors should be appointed for
a specific term, subject to re-election. Dr. Ng Ka Wing and Mr. See Tak Wah
were appointed as independent non-executive Director and have not been
appointed for a specific term but will be subject to retirement by rotation and
eligible for re-election pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company.

Pursuant to the Code Provision A.6.7 of the CG Code (i.e., Code Provision
C.1.6 since 1 January 2022), independent non-executive Directors and
non-executive Directors should attend general meetings of the Company.
However, one independent non-executive Director was absent from the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 25 June 2021 due to other
business commitments. To ensure compliance with the CG Code in the future,
the Company has arranged and will continue to arrange to furnish all Directors
with appropriate information on all general meetings of the Company and take
all reasonable measures to schedule meetings in such a way that all Directors
can attend the general meetings.

Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code (i.e., Code Provision C.2.1 since 1
January 2022) stipulates the roles of chairman and chief executive should
be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Tin
Kong has been serving as the chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company (the “CEO”) following the resignation of Mr. Sheng Siguang as the
CEO which was effective from 1 August 2019. Such practice deviates from
Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. The Board considers that consolidation
of these roles by Mr. Tin Kong provides strong and consistent leadership to
the Company which facilitates effective planning and efficient management
of the Company. The Board will keep reviewing this arrangement from time
to time and should candidate with suitable knowledge, skill and experience
be identified, the Company will make an appointment to fill the post as
appropriate.

The Board will continue to review and improve the corporate governance
practices and standards of the Company to ensure the business activities and
decision making processes of the Company are regulated in a proper and
prudent manner.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules for securities transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company reported that the
Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required standards set
out in the Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2021. The Model
Code also applies to other specified senior management of the Group.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises:

Mr. Tin Kong (Chairman)
Ms. Cheng Hung Mui
Mr. Chan Wei

Ms. Liu Liu

Executive Directors:

Independent Non-executive Directors: Dr. Ng Ka Wing
Mr. See Tak Wah

Mr. Wang Jinlin

The Board comprises of four executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. One of the independent non-executive Directors
possesses appropriate professional accounting qualifications and financial
management expertise. Biographical details of the directors are set out in
the section of “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 14 to 18 of this Annual Report.

The relationships among the members of the Board are disclosed under
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 14 to
18. Save as disclosed under “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management”, the Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other. The formation of the Board has
met Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules for the Board to have at least one-third in
number of its members comprising independent non-executive Directors.

The main focus of the Board is on the formulation of overall strategies and
policies of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial performance
and the internal controls of the Group’s business operations. Execution of
operational matters and the powers thereof are delegated to the management
by way of clear direction and remit from the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The independent non-executive Directors are from professional background
with a broad range of expertise and experience in the fields of accounting,
finance, legal and business. Their skills and expertise ensure strong
independent views and judgment in the Board. They also serve important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective corporate
governance framework. The Board considers that each independent non-
executive Director is independent in character and judgment and that they all
meet the independence criteria as set out under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

All directors are regularly updated on governance and regulatory matters.
There is an established procedure for directors to obtain independent
professional advice at the expense of the Company in the furtherance of their
duties. The Company has also arranged appropriate director and officer liability
insurance cover in respect of any potential legal actions that might be taken
against its directors.

Directors’ Training and Professional Development Programme
The Directors have undergone satisfactory training throughout the year and

provided the training record to the Company. During the year ended 31
December 2021, the training records of the Directors are set out below:
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¥R EH - RAIRRE ZEFH
Attend Seminars,

Read Briefings and
Materials Conferences
HEMS
Directors B2E BB R BHREREE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Tin Kong (Chairman) B4 (EE) v 4
Ms. Cheng Hung Mui AT 22+ v v
Mr. Chan Wei BRE A v v
(appointed on 28 July 2021) (R=Z=_—FtA=-+N\BEZF)
Ms. Liu Liu %Mﬂﬂizi v v
(appointed on 28 July 2021) (R=ZE=——F+tA=-+NBEZME)
Mr. Chen Dekun BRiER S A v v
(retired on 25 June 2021) (RZZB=—FNAZTRHABEE)
Mr. Sheng Siguang XA SEE v v
(retired on 25 June 2021) (R=E=——%FA-t+HHEMD)
Independent Non-executive Directors B I TTEE
Dr. Ng Ka Wing RELHE L+ v v
Mr. See Tak Wah i v v
Mr. Wang Jinlin FeMEE v v
SEC-FERSE
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Directors’ Attendance at the Board Meetings and General

Meetings

The individual attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings
(not including other ad hoc meetings of the Board held from time to time),
certain committee meetings and general meetings during the year ended 31

December 2021 is set out below:
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Attendance/Number of Meetings

ESHFESETRRBRRAERER

BEENEBE_T_—Ft+t-_A=1T—HL=FE
HFREFgeR(TEREMTREITHNEM
CETZEEgZLBERKRENE

i/ BTERAY
Internal
Audit  Nomination Remuneration Control
Committee ~ Committee =~ Committee ~ Committee Board General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meeting Meetings Meetings
ERZEE REZEE® FMEEE APERZS
Directors Ex - = e 2gE ETegE BRRAE
Executive Directors HiTEZE
Mr. Tin Kong isEibite NATER 2/2 2/2 1/1 i 11
Ms. Cheng Hung Mui ALY N/ATE A N/ATE A N/ATNER N/ATNE A 07 0N
Mr. Chan Wei BEEE(RZS—F N/ATER N/ATEA N/ATNEF N/ATER 33 N/ATER
(appointed on 28 July 2021) tAZTN\BEZRE)
Ms. Liu Liu nt(R=T=—F N/AT N/ATER NATER NATER 03 NATER
(appointed on 28 July 2021) tAZTN\REZE)
Mr. Chen Dekun GEmtt(R=2=—F  NATER N/ARiE N/ATRE N/ATRE 072 0/
(retired on 25 June 2021) NAZTREBRE)
Mr. Sheng Siguang BRAREE(R-B-—F  NATER N/ATE NATER NATER 072 01
(retired on 25 June 2021) NAZTRARE)
Independlent Non-executive Directors B/ k772 %
Dr. Ng Ka Wing RRFEL 1/2 212 2/2 1/ 3/7 11
Mr. See Tak Wah HERELE 2/2 2/2 2/2 11 i 1
Mr. Wang Jinlin TembksE 2/2 2/2 2/2 11 6/7 0N
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of potential
legal actions against its Directors and officers.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
CEO should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

The roles of Chairman are to provide leadership to the Board and responsible
for the effective functioning and ensuring that directors receive adequate,
reliable and complete information in timely manner. The Chairman assumes
the primary responsibility for ensuring that good corporate governance
practices and procedures are established.

The CEOQ is responsible for administering and managing the Group’s business
and internal controls, including the implementation of major strategies and
initiatives decreed and delegated by the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, Mr. Tin Kong has been serving as
the chairman and the CEO of the Company following the resignation of Mr.
Sheng Siguang as the CEO which was effective from 1 August 2019. In view
of current development of the Group, the Board believes that it is in the best
interest of the Group to have Mr. Tin Kong taking up both roles for effective
execution of business strategies and management of business operations.
The Board will keep reviewing this arrangement from time to time and should
candidate with suitable knowledge, skill and experience be identified, the
Company will make an appointment to fill the post of CEO as appropriate.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board has established four
committees, namely, the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”), the remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the internal control
committee (the “Internal Control Committee”), for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are
established with defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference of
the Board committees are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders upon request.
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Each Board committee consists of a majority of independent non-executive
Directors (“INED”). The list of the chairman and members of each Board
committee as at the date of this Annual Report is set out below:

Audit Committee

Mr. See Tak Wah (Chairman) (INED)
Dr. Ng Ka Wing (INED)
Mr. Wang Jinlin (INED)

Internal Control Committee

Mr. Tin Kong (Chairman) (executive Director)
Dr. Ng Ka Wing (INED)

Mr. See Tak Wah (INED)

Mr. Wang Jinlin (INED)

Nomination Committee

Mr. Tin Kong (Chairman) (executive Director)
Dr. Ng Ka Wing (INED)

Mr. See Tak Wah (INED)

Mr. Wang Jinlin (INED)

Remuneration Committee

Dr. Ng Ka Wing (Chairman) (INED)
Mr. Tin Kong (executive Director)
Mr. See Tak Wah (INED)

Mr. Wang Jinlin (INED)

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to perform
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

Pursuant to Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules, every listed issuer is required
to have at least three INEDs, at least one of whom must have appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise. Besides, according to Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, every listed
issuer must establish an audit committee comprising non-executive directors
only. The audit committee must comprise a minimum of three members, at
least one of whom is an independent non-executive director with appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2). Throughout the year, the Board at all
times fully complied with Rules 3.21 and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The majority of the audit committee members must be independent non-
executive directors of the listed issuer. The audit committee must be chaired
by an independent non-executive director. The Audit Committee currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors. Written terms of
reference, which describe the authority and duties of the Audit Committee,
have been adopted and posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange, and are regularly reviewed and updated by the Board.

As at the reporting date, the Audit Committee comprised three members, all
the independent non-executive Directors namely, Dr. Ng Ka Wing, Mr. See
Tak Wah and Mr. Wang Jinlin as members. The chairman of Audit Committee is
Mr. See Tak Wah who possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. None of the members
of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing external
auditor. The Audit Committee has separate and independent access to the
advice and services of the senior management of the Company, and is able
to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense upon
reasonable request.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@ To review the consolidated financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s
staff responsible for the accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or external auditors before submission to the Board.

(b) To review the relationship with the external auditors with reference
to the work performed by the external auditors, their fees and terms
of engagement, and make recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditors.

(c) To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting system, internal control system and risk management system
and associated procedures.

During the year, the Audit Committee has, inter alia, reviewed the accounting
standards and practices adopted by the Group and discussed with the
management about the internal control and financial reporting matters,
including reviewing the annual financial information for the year ended 31
December 2020 and the interim financial information for the six months ended
30 June 2021.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, who is of
opinion that such statements comply with applicable accounting standards
and legal requirements, and that adequate disclosures have been made.
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INTERNAL CONTROL COMMITTEE

The Internal Control Committee comprises four members, namely, Mr. Tin
Kong who is the Chairman and executive Director, and Dr. Ng Ka Wing,
Mr. See Tak Wah and Mr. Wang Jinlin who are independent non-executive
Directors. The Internal Control Committee is chaired by Mr. Tin Kong. The
Internal Control Committee was established to enhance risk management and
internal control systems in a timely manner. The Internal Control Committee
is responsible for performing independent review of the adequacy and
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems. The Internal
Control Committee examines key issues in relation to the accounting practices
and all material controls; evaluate and determine the nature and extent of the
risks it is willing to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives; and
provides the effectiveness of its implementation and recommendations for
improvement to the Audit Committee and the Board.

During the year, the Company organizes personnel and seeks assistance from
external professional advisory institutions to review the risk management and
internal control systems which are subject to the review by the Company’s
management team and the Internal Control Committee and approval by the
Audit Committee and the Board.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

According to the code provision A.5.1 of the CG Code (the provision was
deleted in the CG Code and updated as Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules),
issuers should establish a nomination committee which is chaired by the
chairman of the board or an independent non-executive director and
comprises a majority of independent non-executive directors.

The Company has set up a Nomination Committee with its written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules to ensure fair and transparent procedures for appointment, re-
election and removal of Directors to the Board. The Nomination Committee
currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors and one
executive Director, and was chaired by an executive Director who is the
Chairman of the Board.

88 Tesson Holdings Limited

NEEZRZESRENEKE - A#EE(E
FRUTESE)  RFREEL  HEELELERT
SMEE(DRBIIFRITES) - MMLEREET
NEETERBEEE - KU AMETRBE NS
£ R B pnog LR B IR e PR ER PR AR o IBRERHE
ZESRABYRNMAREELRABEZERRZ
FrRMREN - REEEZEgEREEED
NIBEREN A BRER  FENEER
FEHA A RRES BIRMAAE 2B EE M2
B RABRZREZEeNESTSRTERER LN

RER - ARRABABL SHKINPERE A
BiHPRTEREEMAREZERS  YHAR
AIEEEEMABETLZ B RN TKEZZ
BEelhESEHE-

REEESE

RIBIERE AT A Z T RNERXE AL R (X IR
EREEEATRIRMERILEHHER LHRANE
B2TAIR) - BITABARUIRRRE QY HES
ETRIBULIFATESREETF - KEIKE
RBIIFHITES °

18

N

e

/!

AATERETMARRM ST HrE 2 BEERST
A IRREEE - WRIAEEBERE - LA
REZE BEERBRLEFCESTZEH RN
RNERBRAZIEF - REZEBERERBERE=
BEMIIFATEER —BITES - THATE
EREFSIRFEEIR -

Annual Report 2021



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board on a regular basis and make recommendations to
the Board regarding any proposed changes; identifying individuals suitably
qualified to become Board members and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of, individuals nominated for directorships;
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors; making
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Nomination Committee has
reviewed the existing structure, size, diversity and composition of the Board
to ensure it has a balance of expertise, skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements the Group’s business; reviewed
and assessed the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and
assessed the board diversity policy of the Company (the “Board Diversity
Policy”).

The Nomination Committee formulated Board Diversity Policy. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance
the quality of its performance. In designing the Board’s composition, the
Nomination Committee will consider a number of aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will continue to review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness and discuss any revisions that may be
required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration
and approval.

The Nomination Committee also monitors the implementation of the

Board Diversity Policy and reports to the Board on the achievement of the
measurable objectives for achieving diversity under the Board Diversity Policy.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Remuneration Policy for Directors and Senior Management

The remuneration payable to the employees includes salaries and allowances.
The Group’s remuneration policies are formulated based on the performance
of individual employees and are reviewed regularly. Subject to the Group’s
profitability, the Group may also provide a discretionary bonus to employees
as an incentive for their contribution to the Group. The primary goal of
the remuneration policy with regard to the remuneration packages of the
executive Directors is to enable the Group to retain and motivate the executive
Directors by linking their compensation with performance as measured against
corporate objectives achieved. Each of the executive Directors is entitled to
the remuneration packages including basic salaries and discretionary bonuses.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all
Directors’ and senior management remuneration, make recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors and determine, with
delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management.

The Company believes that by offering the eligible persons a shareholding
stake in the Company, the interests of the eligible persons and the Company
will align and thereby provide the eligible persons with additional incentives to
improve the Company’s performance.

According to the Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules, an issuer must establish a
remuneration committee chaired by an independent non-executive director
and comprising a majority of independent non-executive directors, and
according to the Rule 3.26 of the Listing Rules, the board of directors
must approve and provide written terms of reference for the remuneration
committee which clearly establish its authority and duties.

The Company has set up a Remuneration Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules to ensure that there are formal and transparent procedures for
setting policies on the remuneration of Directors and senior management.
The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors and one executive Director, and was chaired by an
independent non-executive Director.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Remuneration Committee has
reviewed and discussed the remuneration and structure of the Directors and
senior management of the Company.

Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code (i.e., Code Provision
E.1.5 since 1 January 2022), the remuneration of the members of the senior
management by band for the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out in Note
14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Wei, the company secretary of the Company, is also an executive
director of the Company. He ensures information flow within the Board and
that the Board policy and procedures are followed. The company secretary is
responsible for advising the Board on the corporate governance matters and
professional development of the Directors.

According to the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, the company
secretary has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibility for the systems of internal control and
risk management of the Company and for reviewing their effectiveness on a
regular basis, covering financial, operational, compliance controls and risk
management functions.

The Board is committed to design and implement effective and sound
risk management and internal control systems to safeguard the interests
of Shareholders and the Group’s assets. The systems are implemented
to manage and minimize, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure in
operation systems, and to provide reasonable assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Board has delegated to executive management the
implementation of the systems of risk management and internal controls and
reviewing of all relevant financial, operational, compliance controls and risk
management function within an established framework. Our risk management
and internal control systems are reviewed and renewed at least on an annual
basis.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, Apec Risk Management Limited, an
external professional advisory institution, has been appointed to undertake
the internal audit function and assist the Internal Control Committee to
review the risk management and internal control systems of the Group. For
risk assessment, the management and functional responsible persons are
required to evaluate the likelihood and impact of each identified risk item in
a risk register. Once significant risks are identified, mitigating measures are
required to put in place immediately in order to manage such risks. For internal
control review, once areas of improvement have been identified, appropriate
measures and follow-up actions are required to be put in place in order to
enhance the internal control system. The Internal Control Committee reviews
the findings and opinion of the management on the effectiveness of the
Company’s risk management and internal control systems, and reports to the
Audit Committee and the Board on such reviews. In respect of the year ended
31 December 2021, the Board considered the risk management and internal
control systems effective and adequate. No significant areas of concern which
might affect Shareholders were identified.
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The Company has put in place the policies and procedures for the handling
and dissemination of inside information. The Company regularly reminds the
Directors and employees for the due compliance with all policies regarding
the inside information and also keeps them for the latest regulatory updates.
Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group ensures the
information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes that the necessary
degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have
been breached, the Group would immediately disclose the information to the
public.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, price sensitive announcements
and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The auditor’s responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 45 to 49 to this
Annual Report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the total remuneration of the Group’s
auditor for statutory audit services was approximately HK$1,180,000.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a Special General
Meeting (“SGM”)

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws and the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (“Companies Act”), registered Shareholders holding not less than
one-tenth (10%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company (“SGM Requisitionists”) can
deposit a written request to convene a SGM at the registered office of the
Company (“Registered Office”), which is presently situated at Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The SGM Requisitionists
must state in their request(s) the purposes of the SGM and such request(s)
must be signed by all the SGM Requisitionists and may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the SGM
Requisitionists.
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The Share Registrars will verify the SGM Requisitionists’ particulars in the SGM
Requisitionists’ request. Promptly after confirmation from the Share Registrars
that the SGM Requisitionists’ request is in order, the Company Secretary will
arrange with the Board to convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice to all
the registered Shareholders in accordance with all the relevant statutory and
regulatory requirements. On the contrary, if the SGM Requisitionists’ request
is verified not in order, the SGM Requisitionists will be advised of the outcome
and accordingly, a SGM will not be convened as requested.

The SGM Requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of
the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a SGM if within
twenty-one (21) days of the deposit of the SGM Requisitionists’ request, the
Board does not proceed duly to convene a SGM provided that any SGM so
convened is held within three (8) months from the date of the original SGM
Requisitionists’ request. A SGM so convened by the SGM Requisitionists
shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings are to be convened by the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals at a
general meeting

Pursuant to the Companies Act, either any number of the registered
Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth (5%) of the paid-up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
(“Requisitionists”), or not less than 100 of such registered Shareholders, can
request the Company in writing to (a) give to Shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next general meeting notice of any resolution which may properly
be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate to
Shareholders entitled to have notice of any general meeting any statement
of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that meeting. The
requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of several documents
in like form, each signed by one or more of the Requisitionists; and it must be
deposited at the Registered Office with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet
the Company’s relevant expenses, not less than six (6) weeks before the
meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not less than
one (1) week before the meeting in the case of any other requisition. Provided
that if an AGM is called for a date six (6) weeks or less after the requisition has
been deposited, the requisition though not deposited within the time required
shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the purposes thereof.
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Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board
in writing through the Company Secretary whose contact details are as
follows:

The Company Secretary

Mr. Chan Wei

Room 401A, Empire Centre,

68 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 3520 3181

Email: info@tessonholdings.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings
of the Company.

Constitutional Documents

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no alteration to the
Company’s constitutional documents.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to enhancing communications and relationships
with its investors. Designated senior management maintains an open
dialogue with institutional investors and analysts to keep them abreast of the
Company’s developments.

The Company also maintains a website at www.tessonholdings.com, where
updates on the Company’s business developments and operations, financial
information and news can always be found.

CODE OF CONDUCT

The Company is committed to high standard of business ethics and integrity. A
code of conduct is enforced on all employees of the Group. The employees at
all levels are expected to act in an honest, diligent and responsible manner. No
personal gifts or other forms of advantages from any person or organisation
doing business with the Group can be accepted by any employee. Business
partners and customers are reminded from time to time that its policy forbids
any employee or agent of the Group from accepting any gift from them.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
TESSON HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tesson Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 50 to 131, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements which
mentions that the Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$501,014,000
and operating cash outflow of approximately HK$25,455,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2021. The cash and bank balance is amounting to
HK$12,643,000 as at 31 December 2021. These conditions indicate a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In
addition to the matters described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concemn section, we have determined the matters described below to be the
key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

(i) Properties for sale under development
Refer to Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of properties for sale under development
for impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit because
the balance of properties for sale under development of approximately
HK$993,657,000 as at 31 December 2021 and impairment of properties
for sale under development of approximately HK$130,084,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2021 are material to the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment test involves application
of judgement and is based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:
- Obtaining and evaluating the impairment assessment;

- Assessing the net realisable values of the properties for sale under
development;

- Discussing with management their calculation by comparing the
costs to, where available, recently transacted prices for similar
properties or the price of comparable properties located in the
vicinity of the development;

- Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of the
external valuer engaged by client;

- Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting with the
external valuer to discuss and challenge the valuation process,
methodologies used and market evidence to support significant

judgments and assumptions applied in the valuation model;

- Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation model
to supporting evidence; and

- Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for properties for sale
under development is supported by the available evidence.
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(ii)

(iii)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Amount due from a non-controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary

Refer to Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of amount due from a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary for impairment. This impairment test is
significant to our audit because the balance of amount due from
a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary of approximately
of HK$262,107,000 as at 31 December 2021 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment
test involves application of judgement and is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

Evaluating the impairment assessment;
- Checking subsequent settlements;

- Assessing the relationship and transaction history with the non-
controlling shareholder of a subsidiary;

- Assessing creditworthiness of non-controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary; and

- Assessing the disclosure of the exposure to amount due in the
consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for amount due from a
non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary is supported by the available
evidence.

Goodwill
Refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group is required to annually test the amount of goodwill for
impairment. This annual impairment test is significant to our audit
because the balance of goodwill of approximately HK$119,256,000
as at 31 December 2021 and impairment of goodwill of approximately
HK$106,855,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 are material
to the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s
impairment test involves application of judgement and is based on
assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:
- Assessing the identification of the related cash generating units;

= Assessing the arithmetical accuracy of the value-in-use
calculations;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BN

- Comparing the actual cash flows with the cash flow projections;

- Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions (including
revenue growth, profit margins, terminal growth rates and discount
rates); and

- Checking input data to supporting evidence.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for goodwill is supported by the
available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises all the information in the
Company’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information identified and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements is located at the HKICPA’s website at:

http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-and-regulations/standards/auditing-
assurance/auditre/

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Li Shun Fai

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P05498
Hong Kong, 31 May 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meBmRkEMEENRE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #&ZF —E—-—#+-H=1—HIFZF

2021 2020
—E--F —E-THF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
k3 FETT FET
Revenue WS 8 171,294 762,891
Cost of sales SHERAR (156,580) (461,706)
Gross profit EF 14,714 301,185
Interest income A BEUA 764 271
Other income Halg A 9 15,863 5,331
Distribution and selling expenses DR IHE R (14,679) (15,309)
Administrative expenses TERX (178,757) (162,930)
Fair value gain/(loss) on investment REWEZ N HEWE(E18)
properties 13,191 (832)
Impairment losses on various assets ZIEEE 2 BIEEE 13b (315,810) (2,291)
Written-off on various assets ZIRE B 2 MEH 13b (63,433) -
(Loss)/profit from operations e (EBR), BT (528,147) 125,925
Finance costs BE KA 11 (9,642) (12,951)
(Loss)/profit before tax BREBLAT (B518), BT 13a (537,789) 112,974
Income tax credit/(expenses) FrisfiEe, (Fx) 12 36,775 (73,492)
(Loss)/profit for the year REE(FR),wA (501,014) 39,482
Other comprehensive (expenses)/ Hih2m(BIR), Wi
income
Items that may be reclassified to HJEEEF 7 EHE B 2 HH
profit or loss
Exchange differences on translating foreign # &GN TG FTE 4 2
operations INE R =R 35,588 91,433
Total comprehensive (expenses)/ AEEREBX) WFEAE
income for the year (465,426) 130,915
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meaEmRAEtEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 g2 —F -~ —F+ - H=+—HIFZ

2021 2020
—B-—F —TEF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
k3 FET FET
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to T3 A T EEREE (FE) #EF
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEIEZ SN (326,942) (25,198)
Non-controlling interests IS (174,072) 64,680
(501,014) 39,482
Total comprehensive (expenses)/ THALTEEREERZEAX),
income for the year attributable to Wis 4858
Owners of the Company ¥IN/NEIEZ SN (301,029) 41,717
Non-controlling interests eI s (164,397) 89,198
(465,426) 130,915
Loss per share FREE 16
Basic (HK cents per share) ER(EZEN) (26.92) (2.11)
Diluted (HK cents per share) BE (2B N) (26.92) (2.11)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BB &

At 31 December 2021 R-ZE—-——#+—=-H=+—H

2021 2020
—EBZ—fF —E-THF
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
k3 FETT FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE NERE 17 300,032 421,476
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, BEWE  MEERRHEZENETS
plant and equipment 18,985 3,548
Investment properties WEWE 19 57,952 29,526
Goodwiill [EES 20 119,256 220,408
Right-of-use assets FREEE 18 97,346 120,910
Investment in joint venture REBLHEIIRE - 10,002
593,571 805,870
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 21 42,178 30,870
Properties for sale under development BREDFEWE 22 993,657 1,566,127
Trade and bills receivables, other FEWCE 5 R TR & FEUR =4
receivables, deposits and prepayments B EWERERR « 514 RIERT IB 23 583,917 213,691
Financial assets at fair value through profit  ZAFEFFAEBRZ S REE
or loss 54 86
Amount due from a non-controlling FE U — P B A B FEIE AR AR B AR 3K
shareholder of a subsidiary 24 262,107 309,383
Restricted bank balances PR HIRITAEER 25 40,304 52,659
Bank and cash balances RIT MR AR 25 12,643 15,109
1,934,860 2,187,925
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade, bills and other payables ENE BN ENEREE
A FERTRR K 26 336,690 340,541
Contract liabilities a8 E 27 1,002,240 938,905
Borrowings BE 28 207,520 251,012
Lease liabilities HEAE 18 7,886 5,144
Tax payable FERT IR 122,261 120,969
Amount due to the controlling shareholder — F& {122 iR A% 5 BR 34 29 41 63
1,676,638 1,656,639
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31 December 2021

VAN
2 Ny =]

BAFEAR AR

R-FE-——F+—-H=4+—H

2021 2020

—E--F —E-THF

Notes HK$°000 HK$'000

it FET FET

Net current assets REEEEE 258,222 531,286

Total assets less current liabilities EEAERAEHEE 851,793 1,337,156
Non-current liabilities kRBER

Lease liabilities HEBE 18 14,612 15,591

Deferred tax liabilities BIEFHIBAE 30 46,577 81,175

61,189 96,766

NET ASSETS EEFE 790,604 1,240,390
Capital and reserves EXRR#E

Share capital A& 2 31 123,650 119,649

Reserves ] 32(a) 640,939 930,329

Equity attributable to owners of R EEE AL I

the Company 764,589 1,049,978

Non-controlling interests FEEAR = 26,015 190,412

TOTAL EQUITY R HAEE 790,604 1,240,390

The consolidated financial statements on pages 50 to 131 were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 May 2022 and are signed

on its behalf by:

Tin Kong

8

Director

EE

—EC-FERE

TIESHERRE -

Cheng Hung Mui

LIFAR

Director

EZE

FE0EEFINAZREVBEEEHRESTER
—E-—FRFA=t—BEMLFRENZE I h
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
,.vT\ 7f \"W%Ej]%

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #ZE_-—F - —F 1+ _-H=+—HIFFZF

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARTREEARL
Share-  Foreign  Retained
Capital Asset Convertible based  currency  profits/ Non-
Share - redemption Share  revaluation bond Other ~ Capital  payment translation (accumulated controlling
capital reserve  premium feserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve losses) Total interests Total
DY
Ba TERES BEE  JMEX REEN/

Bs WO BOEE HEEHER fif EfEE EAEE  OFER B (ZER g FERER it
HKS000  HKSOO0  HKBOOO  HKS000  HKS000  HKSOO0  HKSOO0  HKBOOO  HKSUOD  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000
Fér  FEn TR TR TR TR PR TR TR PR FET T P

At 1 January 2020 w=% 119,649 64 826773 28937 15,983 6,071 (200 6504 (71491) 48800 976740 128536  1,105276
Total comprehensive income/ TEE
(expenses) for the year (A - - - - - - - - 66,915 (25,19 “n7 89,198 130915
Revaluation surplus released upon :

EE
15 D

disposal of property, plant and

e
T
b H
b

H
=

equipment {5 - - - (189) - - - - - 185 - - -
Reversal of deferred tax liabiity upon ~ EfEBSEHES

release of revaluation surplus Lt - - - 4 - - - - - - 4 3 8
Deemed purchase of non-controling ‘ f

nferests - - - - - - - - (1310 3939 38089 (38,089 -
Release upon expiry of convertble B AR EiE

option on bonds BRGER - - - - (15989 - - - - 15w - - -
Deamed disposal of Rl EsRER

non-controling inferests - - - - - - - - 50 6,663 (6,613) 6,613 -
Capital inection from FHERER TR

non-controllng interests - - - - - - - - - - - 4121 412
Lapse of share options BRERK - - - - - - - (344) = 344 = = =
At31 December 2020 W-Z-%F

t-A=t-H 119,649 64 826773 2,797 - 6,071 (200 6,250 (83%) 72850  1,049978 190412 1240390

At 1 January 2021 R-E--F-F-H 119649 624 826,773 2,797 - 6,071 (200) 6,250 (5,83) 72850 1049978 190412 1,240,390
Total comprehensive income/ 7$ F2ERA/

(expenses) for the year (%) - - - - - - - - 25913 (326942  (301,029)  (164,307)  (465,426)

Revaluation surplus released upon — HENE « BER
dlisposal of property, plant and FERELN

equipment i - - - (4619 - - - - - 4618 - - -
Reversal of deferred tax [abity upon B RERHEY

release of revaluation surplus ERHEEERE - - - 5,503 - - - - - (5,593) - - -
Issue of shares upon share placement - [RGE ERET R 4,001 - 11,639 - - - - - - - 15,640 - 15,640
Transfer rom other eserve and HAfRERAARE

capital resenve o refained eamings  EREZREEH - - - - - (6,074) 200 - - 5871 - - -
Lapse of share options BRERN - - - - - - - (6250 - 6,250 - - -
At 31 December 2021 i 3

toREEE 130 o B2 4m - - - - WO (2% TS0 28015 T906M
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #ZE_-F—-——F 1+ _-H=+—HIFFZF

2021 2020
—E- & ZETHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Cash flows from operating activities RETEZRERE
(Loss)/profit before tax BrE A (E1E),HF) (537,789) 112,974
Adjustments for: ATIBEE EL AR :
Finance costs REE RN 9,642 12,951
Interest income FLEWA (764) @71)
Depreciation e 69,319 64,317
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 9,394 10,991
Loss on disposal of investment properties HEREYE 7 EiE - 9,377
Written off of inventories FEiE 993 -
Impairment of inventories FERE 20,564 -
Impairment on trade receivables EUNE SRR ZRE 40,510 1,778
Impairment on other receivables HihEW BRI 2 HE 7,617 513
Fair value gain/(loss) on investment properties & &%~ A FEME(EE) (13,191) 332
Loss on early redemption of convertible R ER A AR ES 2 EE
bonds - 15,706
Fair value changes on financial assets at BATEFABRZEREEZ
fair value through profit or loss NEEE 32 48
Written off of property, plant and equipment Y - RS MR 2 62,440 -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME « BE KX EE
equipment 6,670 524
Impairment loss on a joint venture aERE 2 RERE 10,180 -
Impairment loss on goodwill PR R EEE 106,855 -
Impairment on properties for sale under BRPGEYEZRE
development 130,084 -
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEfFAREEE 2 W (2,747) =
Loss on disposal of properties for sale under HEZRRPFEYEZEE
development 5,812 —
Operating cash flows before working capital LEECEER LIEERERE
changes (74,379) 229,240
Change in inventories FEEY (31,686) 7,124
Change in properties for sale under BRPGFEVFEES
development 39,716 117,876
Change in trade and other receivables, FEUE Z IR TR N A FEURBR R
deposits and prepayments & RTESRIAE 32,165 23,760
Change in trade and other payables FENT B 5 BR 7k N2 Hofth FE (ST BR TR A &) (21,006) (9,701)
Change in contract liabilities ERAEZD 31,658 (346,713)
Cash (used in)/generated from operations KE (A, FisRe (23,532) 21,586
Interest received BEF A 764 271
Tax paid BHFIIE (2,687) (505)
Net cash (used in)/generated from KESEE (FTA) 8RS FE
operating activities (25,455) 21,352
—E_—FERE KEZERERAF 55



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n\lj_\ }EEUWE%

For the year ended 31 December 2021 ZZ —

—E - A=F—HIFE

2021 2020
—E- & ZETHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Cash flows from investing activities BRETEZBEERE
Proceeds from disposal of investment HEREYEZ FTS0E
properties - 1,432
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and  HE¥% - HE & &M@ 2 RS mE
equipment - 241
Purchase of property, plant and equipment A - BB NERE (5,042) (5,839)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, BEVE BEAREEHNT2
plant and equipment (18,638) (3,548)
Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use assets ~ HE&EFREEE 2 FTS50E 31,882
Changes in restricted bank deposits ZRHIRITIERE 13,894 (11,545)
Changes in pledged bank deposits EHEARRIT R E - 1,351
Net cash generated from/(used in) BEFTEME (TR Z2RETE
investing activities 22,096 (17,908)
Cash flows from financing activities RMETEHCRERE
Advance from the controlling shareholder LS T’““H&Hﬁ%ﬁ’]zf’v 14,339 17,015
Repayment to the controlling shareholder &R IR AR R K (14,367) (73,513)
Repayment of bank loans ERIBITER (48,276) (22,508)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEREaE (2,960) (6,888)
Interest paid ERAFE (21,461) (20,417)
Lease interest paid ENEERE (1,727) (1,575)
Capital injection from non-controlling interest 38 B FEIE PR )T & - 4,121
Proceeds from issue of shares BT D 2 FT1S RIR 15,640 -
Early redemption of convertible bonds IR EE AR ES - (60,000)
Repayment from non-controlling shareholder 2R & — M B A B3 EEE AR AR R A& 2K
of a subsidiary 56,696 124,466
Net cash used in financing activities BEEEFTA RS R (2,116) (39,299)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents BE4$ B ESZEYR D T (5,475) (35,859)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FHZzHEERASEEY
of the year 15,109 35,389
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate GINGE P SR 44 ) 2 s 2L 3,009 15,575
Cash and cash equivalents atend of year SAZEERBELSZEY 12,643 15,109
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents RERBSEEYIN
Bank and cash balances RITRIAEE 12,643 15,109
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #ZE_-F—-——F 1+ _-H=+—HIFFZF

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability. In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”), the Company’s controlling shareholder is Double Key
International Limited (the “Controlling Shareholder”), a company
incorporated in British Virgin Islands with limited liability. The address
of its registered office and principal place of business are Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and Room 401A,
Empire Centre, 68 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
respectively. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year, the
Group principally engaged in the manufacturing and sale of lithium ion
motive battery, lithium ion battery module, battery charging devices,
battery materials machines and production lines, new energy solution
and sale of relevant equipment, investments holding and import and
export trading (the “Lithium lon Motive Battery Business”) and the
property development business, as well as the cultural industry related
business, including large-scale event production and themed museums,
and architectural design and engineering (the “Property and Cultural
Business”).

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred a loss of HK$501,014,000 and operating cash
outflow of HK$25,455,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021.
The cash and bank balance is amounting to HK$12,643,000 as at 31
December 2021. These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Therefore, the Group may be unable to
realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of
business.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends upon the financial support
of the controlling shareholder, at a level sufficient to finance the working
capital requirements of the Group. The controlling shareholder has
agreed to provide adequate funds for the Group to meet its liabilities
as they fall due. The directors are therefore of the opinion that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis. Should the Group be unable to continue as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to the consolidated
financial statements to adjust the value of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might
arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current assets
and liabilities, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) that are
relevant to its operations and effective for its accounting year beginning
on 1 January 2021. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”);
and Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs
did not result in significant changes to the Group’s accounting policies,
presentation of the Group’s financial statements and amounts reported
for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective. The Group has already commenced an assessment
of the impact of these new HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state
whether these new HKFRSs would have a material impact on its results
of operations and financial position.

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective 1 January 2021

The following amendments to standards have been adopted by
the Group for the first time for the financial year beginning on 1
January 2021:

- HKFRS16 — Amendments in relation to Covid-19-Related

Rent Concessions

- HKFRS 4, 7, 9 and 16 and HKAS 39 — Amendments in
relation to Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

58 Tesson Holdings Limited

Br —FE-——FF+-A=+—HIFEF

3.

R KRBT BB BRE
ZA(THBMBREER )

RAFE  AEBCRABTESFHMAE
(IBEBEEMAE ) RMZMAEN L
ERIRAEMBREEN([EBMBRESE
Bl ZEEABEZERBEIN_-F
A BRBZEFFERELENR - &
BUBRELENBEEEM B HREER
([BERMBREED ) BEGER
(TEBEERA]) - RRE - RAZEM
Rl REERT BB M SRS R W E G TN
SEEHBR  AEERAFEBEF
BZBMBHRERZ 2T EARESELREX

ek

= °

AEBHRKEAEBRMERERNHTE
B BHmEER - AEEERBFEZE
A BAMBREENZHE - HEAREE
HRAREN BBV B RELENEEHE
BRMBIRNBEATE -

(@) WMHFET RIETEBHBRE
A -B-F=--F—F—Bi
X

AREFER - T -—F—F—HHK
B BT B B ORER AN T 51 E RIS ET
K

- BRAMBREENEIR-—F
38 Covid- 1948 B3 18 & Al & K &
=l

— ABUBHELNFEL -7 9%

1657 M A K& BB &5 4 AI5539
8f — BRAF| R EEN EERT

Annual Report 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BT ER B MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #ZE - F - —F 1+ _-H=+—HIFZF

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 3. MM REBITEBUBRE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS EA([EFBUBRELER D) (&)
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet (b) CHEMERERNHFT EIET
effective BB KHREER
The following new and revised amendments to HKFRSs have THFTE] BB S A R HABET
been issued but are not effective for the financial year beginning RELEM  ERAR T —F—
on 1 January 2021, and have not been early adopted by the A—BRENTBRFEER  BAE
Group. i AR IRRTERAR o

Effective for annual

periods beginning

on or after

RUT BB Z#%E

RN EERREN

HKFRS 16 Amendments in relation to Covid-19-Related Rent 1 April 2021
Concessions

EEMBRELERF 1657 B RACovid- 1918 £ R R EVERT 2 —FWA—A

HKFRS 3

BAMGRE A L35
HKAS 16

BAGEIERIE165
HKAS 37

BB GRTEAIEITHR

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

BB HREZERFE 1055 &
BT AERIFE 285

HKFRS 1
BANGHREENER
HKFRS 9

AR BHREERFIHR

HKFRS 16

BB HREAERIF 1657
HKAS 41

BB GRTERIF 4155
HKFRS 17

BN BHREEAF17H

—EC-FERE

Amendments in relation to Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

BB SER 2 IRMmER

Amendments in relation to Proceeds before Intended
Use

BRAVEREE BRI < FT1S SR IBRERT

Amendments in relation to onerous Contracts — Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract

ERAEBENE N —BITE R KARER]

Amendments in relation to Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture

FRAREEEHEBE N ARG S
SOFEMIEET

Subsidiary as a first-time adopter

Bt/ A B B R ER AN

Fees in the ‘10 per cent’ test for derecognition of
financial liabilities

RIEERERMBEZ10%AEFHER

Lease incentives

THERE

Taxation in fair value measurements

NYEFTER IR

Insurance Contracts

AL

TEEZEANEEHRE

1 January 2022

—E__%—HA—H
1 January 2022

T —F—H—H
1 January 2022
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TBD

HE

1 January 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e AR B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #ZE_-—F - —F 1+ _-H=+—HIFFZF

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 3. BAFTIREBIIEAMERE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS B ([FBMBEHREER ) (8)

(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet (b) EEMERERNHT BT

effective (Continued)

BRMBEREER(R)

Effective for annual
periods beginning

on or after
RUT BB %
RN EERREN
HKAS 1 Amendments in relation to Classification of Liabilities as 1 January 2023
Current or Non-current
B gt ERIE15R BERSSERB B ED BIER] —E-_=%—HA—H
HKAS 1 Amendments in relation to Disclosure of Accounting 1 January 2023
Policies
BEGERIE15R BB EGTBERNERT —E_=F—HA—H
HKAS 8 Amendments in relation to Definition of Accounting 1 January 2023
Estimates
B gt ERIZE85R BREgH AT EENERT —E-_=%—HA—H
HKAS 12 Amendments in relation to Deferred Tax related 1 January 2023
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction
HEatERIZE1255% BRARBE-—RXFNEENBBEHRTERENERT —E-=F—A—H
HK-int 5 Amendments in relation to Amendments to HKAS 1 1 January 2023
BEREELN BB ERF1RAETMIELAERT —E-_=%—H—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by HKICPA, and the applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for property, plant and equipment and
certain financial instruments, which are measured at revalued amounts
or fair values, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of key assumptions and estimates. It
also requires management to exercise its judgments in the process of
applying the accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgments
and areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to these
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7 g =

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z _—ZFE_——4#+_-HA=+—HIFZF

4.

e AR B MR

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31 December.
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. The Group has power over an
entity when the Group has existing rights that give it the current ability
to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the
entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting rights as
well as potential voting rights held by other parties, to determine whether
it has control. A potential voting right is considered only if the holder has
the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date the
control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss
of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained
in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net assets of that
subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within equity.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between the non-
controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B AR B BEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 g2 —F -~ —F+ _H=+—HIFZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions
(i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the
Company.

Business combination and goodwiill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of
a subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of acquisition is
measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, equity
instruments issued, liabilities incurred and contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in
which the costs are incurred and the services are received. Identifiable
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at
their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s share of
the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Company’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase
which is attributed to the Company.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. Goodwill
is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The method
of measuring impairment losses of goodwill is the same as that of other
assets as stated in the accounting policy below. Impairment losses
of goodwill are recognised in consolidated profit or loss and are not
subsequently reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition for the
purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially measured at
the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate share of the net fair value
of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the acquisition
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more parties have
joint control. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
Relevant activities are activities that significantly affect the returns of
the arrangement. When assessing joint control, the Group considers
its potential voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has joint control. A potential voting right
is considered only if the holder has the practical ability to exercise that
right.

A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture. A joint
operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint
control of the arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations
for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. A joint venture is a
joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

In relation to its interest in a joint operation, the Group recognises in
its consolidated financial statements, its assets, including its share of
any assets held jointly; its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities
incurred jointly; its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising
from the joint operation; its share of the revenue from the sale of the
output by the joint operation; and its expenses, including its share of any
expenses incurred jointly, in accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to
the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

Investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially recognised at
cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the joint venture in an acquisition
are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of
the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
joint venture’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill.
The goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is
tested for impairment together with the investment at the end of each
reporting period when there is objective evidence that the investment
is impaired. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised
in consolidated profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Joint arrangements (Continued)

The Group’s share of a joint venture’s post-acquisition profits or losses
is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and its share of the post-
acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in the consolidated
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share
of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the joint
venture, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint venture. If the joint venture subsequently
reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of those
profits only after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a joint venture that results in a loss
of joint control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained
in that joint venture and (ii) the Group’s share of the net assets of that
joint venture plus any remaining goodwill relating to that joint venture
and any related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve. If an
investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate, the
Group continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure
the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its joint
ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests in the joint
ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of joint ventures have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currency translation

@

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency on initial recognition using the exchange rates prevailing
on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this translation
policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in foreign
currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component of that gain or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. When a gain
or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B AR B BEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 g2 —F -~ —F+ _H=+—HIFZE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(c)  Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have
a functional currency different from the Company’s presentation
currency are translated into the Company’s presentation currency
as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of
that statement of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on the transaction dates);
and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the
foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation
of the net investment in foreign entities and of borrowings are
recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve. When
a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings comprise mainly factories and offices. Property, plant and
equipment are carried at fair values, based on periodic valuations
by external independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation and
impairment losses. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of
revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset
and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other
repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.

Revaluation increases of property, plant and equipment are recognised
in profit or loss to the extent that the increases reverse revaluation
decreases of the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss. All
other revaluation increases are credited to the asset revaluation reserve
as other comprehensive income. Revaluation decreases that offset
previous revaluation increases of the same asset remaining in the asset
revaluation reserve are charged against the asset revaluation reserve as
other comprehensive income. All other decreases are recognised in profit
or loss. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued property,
plant and equipment, the attributable revaluation increases remaining in
the asset revaluation reserve is transferred directly to retained profits.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates
sufficient to write off their revalued amounts less their residual values
over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

Buildings Over the shorter of the term of the lease or
25 years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term of the lease or
25 years

Plant and Machinery 4%-33%

Office equipment 20%

Motor vehicles 20%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed
and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction and
plant and machinery pending installation, and is stated at cost less
impairment losses. Depreciation begins when the relevant assets are
available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B AR B BEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 g2 —F -~ —F+ _H=+—HIFZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or building held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation. An investment property is measured initially at
its cost including all direct costs attributable to the property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is stated at its fair
value based on valuation by an external independent valuer. Gains or
losses arising from changes in fair value of the investment property are
recognised in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
property, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leases
The Group as Lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding lease
liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by the Group.
Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated
at rates to write off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s useful life
and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are
as follows:

Land Over the lease term of 50 years
Buildings Over the lease term of 3-9 years

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount of
the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments prepaid,
initial direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the
net present value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or otherwise the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
profit or loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are leases with an initial
lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets are assets of value
below HK$39,000 (equivalent to approximately US$5,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 —ZF =

4.

e AR B MR

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessor

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all the risks and
rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for as operating leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Properties for sale under development

Properties for sale under development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Costs include acquisition costs, prepaid land
lease payments, construction costs, borrowing costs capitalised and
other direct costs attributable to such properties. Net realisable value is
determined by reference to sale proceeds received after the reporting
period less selling expenses, or by estimates based on prevailing market
condition. On completion, the properties are reclassified to properties
held for sale at the then carrying amount.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined using the weighted average basis. The cost of finished
goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of all production overhead expenditure,
and where appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the statement
of financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets; or the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets but has not retained control on the assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received
and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B AR B BEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 g2 —F -~ —F+ _H=+—HIFZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the
relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a contract whose
terms require delivery of the asset within the timeframe established by
the market concerned, and are initially recognised at fair value, plus
directly attributable transaction costs except in the case of investments
at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of investments at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the following
categories:

(@)  Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) are
classified under this category if they satisfy both of the following
conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model whose objective
is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows;
and

- the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less loss allowance for expected credit
losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z _—ZFE_——4#+_-HA=+—HIFZF

4.

e AR B MR

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial assets (Continued)
(b) Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if they do
not meet the conditions to be measured at amortised cost and
the conditions of debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income unless the Group designates an equity
investment that is not held for trading as at fair value through other
comprehensive income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently
measured at fair value with any gains or losses arising from
changes in fair values recognised in profit or loss. The fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss are net of any interest
income and dividend income. Interest income and dividend income
are recognised in profit or loss.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses
on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit losses are the
weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of a default
occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the loss
allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to the expected
credit losses that result from all possible default events over the
expected life of that financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit
losses”) for trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables, or
if the credit risk on that financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables and contract assets) has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the
loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to the
portion of lifetime expected credit losses that represents the expected
credit losses that result from default events on that financial instrument
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the loss
allowance at the end of the reporting period to the required amount is
recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

72 Tesson Holdings Limited

4. FESTBER(E)

TREE (&)
b) BLFEGAABDIRE

BRIE A SR B 1) 2 RERR B 15 TE FERFAF
BEMBRAKRE B A FE AEM
2ENEG  AMEREEL TR
BT ENRN - TAFRER
FEAEBEERENEBIREDN
fi&tF - RIBIAKRLRR] -

BRATEFABEZREHBIZAT
Bt E - MATEEEEENERK
WA EERNERER - NIERERN
NP E W B 1R TR ERTALE UL
AR BHA o ] BUA KB B A
RIBEHER ©

AHEEBRZERRE

AEBZBERAEREREEZTAME
EFBCEERE  BAHEEBREREE
EIRZ I8 - HERNBRZ AR
RIEEEREE

RERSHR  AEBRASHREHEE
BlRzeRFEcmITAZEERRE M
BERAREEBRIIEMA A ERZT &
EWE HHH - ANEERBWREERIA
ZEBMTAZEAFHABLEEDNEMHK
Wze TAZEERRB 7 FHERIAR
K@%MWéﬁmﬁﬁ%EE%EURR
BEMEEBE] -

ﬁ#ﬁiﬁiiﬁﬁﬂlﬁﬁwﬁ%%ﬁ

BREERIN 2 EERR B VSR
II%X%EM AEBRBEERE DK

ATEHEEBEZ SBtE2%eMmIAY
EiEEE - BlZ S/ T A N RS BT
T EARBEENEHMERZBHE
EEE -

B EEERRAEERRESHRZE

ERERBEERRRAMBE ZSERE
mER AR EN kAR o

Annual Report 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits
with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to
the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs.
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in
the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are
set out below.

Convertible loans

Convertible loans which entitle the holder to convert the loans into
a fixed number of equity instruments at a fixed conversion price are
regarded as compound instruments consist of a liability and an equity
component. At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component
is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for similar non-
convertible debt. The fair value of any derivative features embedded in
the compound instruments is included in the liability component. The
difference between the proceeds of issue of the convertible loans and
the fair values assigned to the liability component, representing the
embedded option for the holder to convert the loans into equity of the
Group, is included in equity as capital reserve. The liability component
is carried as a liability at amortised cost using the effective interest
method until extinguished on conversion or redemption. The derivative
components are measured at fair value with gains and losses recognised
in profit or loss.

Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and equity
components of the convertible loans based on their relative carrying
amounts at the date of issue. The portion relating to the equity
component is charged directly to equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 —ZF =

4.

e AR B MR

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the end of the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract
with a customer with reference to the customary business practices and
excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised product or service exceeds one year, the consideration is
adjusted for the effect of a significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance obligation
by transferring control over a product or service to a customer.
Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that apply to that
contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over time if:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

- the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is recognised
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the product or service.

Other revenue
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive
payment are established.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Employee benefits
(@  Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as
a result of services rendered by employees up to the at the end of
the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

(b)  Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes
which are available to all employees. Contributions to the schemes
by the Group and employees are calculated as a percentage of
employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost
charged in profit or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

(c)  Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits
and when the Group recognises restructuring costs and involves
the payment of termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain
directors and employees.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and employees are
measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of non market-based
vesting conditions) of the equity instruments at the date of grant. The
fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based
payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest and
adjusted for the effect of non market-based vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are measured at
the fair value of the services rendered or if the fair value of the services
rendered cannot be reliably measured, at the fair value of the equity
instruments granted. The fair value is measured at the date the Group
receives the services and is recognised as an expense.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a capitalisation rate
to the expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted
average of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings
made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B AR B BEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 g2 —F -~ —F+ _H=+—HIFZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable assurance
that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to it and that the
grant will be received.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable.

Research and development expenses

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred. An internally generated intangible asset
arising from the Group’s development activities is recognised only if all of
the following conditions are met:

(@) An asset is created that can be identified;

(b) It is probable that the asset created will generate future economic
benefits; and

(c) The development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Internally generated intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Where no internally
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure
is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part
of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in
the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
when it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B AR B BEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 g2 —F -~ —F+ _H=+—HIFZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment properties
that are measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of
such properties are presumed to be recovered through sale, unless
the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a business model
of the Group whose business objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted, deferred tax
for such investment properties are measured based on the expected
manner as to how the properties will be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from sales of properties
less deductible expenditures including land costs, borrowing costs,
business taxes and all property development expenditures. LAT is
recognised as an income tax expense. LAT paid is a deductible expense
for PRC enterprise income tax purposes.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to
the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iiy is a member of the key management personnel of the
Company or of a parent of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= AN

e IR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z _—ZFE_——4#+_-HA=+—HIFZF

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) The entity and the Company are members of the same

4. FESTTBER(HE)

BEAL (&)
() ﬁfATﬂ&ﬂMﬁ
SEREE

) ZEBEARTABR-—SEZ

group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of

which the other entity is a member).

(iiiy  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers are also related to the Group.

(vij  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person

identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is @ member of the key management personnel of

the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the
Company or to a parent of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item reported
in the financial statements are identified from the financial information
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purpose of allocating resources and assessing the performance of
the Group’s various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial
reporting purposes unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of productions processes, the type or class
of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

Impairment of assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or not yet available
for use are reviewed annually for impairment and are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying amount may not be recoverable.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and other intangible assets except goodwill,
investment properties, investment, inventories and receivables, to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of any
impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal
of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount
when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information
about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting period or those
that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate are
adjusting events and are reflected in the financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements when material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B AR B BEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 g2 —F -~ —F+ _H=+—HIFZE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the Directors have
made the following judgements that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

(@)  Legal titles of certain land and buildings

As stated in Note 18 and Note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements, the titles of certain parcels of land were not transferred
to the Group as at 31 December 2021. Despite the fact that the
Group has not obtained the relevant legal titles, the Directors
determine to recognise those right-of-use assets and properties
for sales under development, respectively, on the grounds that
they expect the transfer of legal titles in future should have no
major difficulties and the Group is in substance controlling those
parcels of land.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

(@)  Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual values
and related depreciation charges for the Group’s property, plant
and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual useful lives and residual values of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. The Group will revise
the depreciation charge where useful lives and residual values are
different to those previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold.

(b)  Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is determined with reference to the fair
value less costs of disposal and present value of estimated future
cash flows. Where the fair value less costs of disposal and future
cash flows are less than expected or there are unfavourable events
and change in facts and circumstance which result in revision of
fair value less costs of disposal and future estimate cash flows, a
material impairment loss may arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #ZE_-—F - —F 1+ _-H=+—HIFFZF

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 5. BE#HETNRFTE/EE(E)

(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued) 3 FEBEZZTERE(E)

()  Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts () REAEEE
The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts REE 2 RERBEEBIRIELE
based on assessments of the recoverability of the trade and other W B 5 BR 3k N HL th e W BR 3k AT Uk 31 14
receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the past ZEHE MR BREEBMEIFAZE
collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise where events BIE2 MBI TR SR - MEEAFER
or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not FREAN] AE AN D] 2 B Sk
be collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts requires TeHEFE REEZHEAIEEE
the use of judgement and estimates. Where the actual result is HHET R AR - MERARERIRER
different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the ReEET - AIZEEEER Ll st
carrying value of the trade and other receivables and doubtful debt By FETERNESRANE
expenses in the year in which such estimate has been changed. fth FEURBR SXUA R RERFA S 2 BRTAIE ©

(d)  Net realisable value of inventories and properties for sale under Q) TFERZEREPIFEYE S 0] #EFE
development
Net realisable value of inventories and properties for sale under FERERERGFEYE I EE
development is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of R —REFBEP (TS ERMAET
business, less estimated costs of completion and selling expense. TR REER Y B S - %5
These estimates are based on the current market condition and BE DR BEE R TRAREERIHE
the historical experience of manufacturing and selling products of HAUMEERZBELRIEL - BF
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes R M SRR AR RIS T E BT
in customer taste and competitor actions in response to severe HE{TE) 2 & E)n] S 0] IR F(E
industry cycles. The Group will reassess the estimates by the end EEREE - AEBKRESREHR
of each reporting period. EIRHMEFTEL 2 (&5 ©

(e)  Impairment of goodwill () EEBE
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of ErREELREAGTE B EE
the value in use of the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has ZHeEEBEMNERER - £ /8
been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group to BEISESRAEEGATEHEE
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash — SEABNEENARBEEREK
generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate BERRLGTEIRE - RIREH
the present value. The carrying amount of goodwill at the end of RAEZAHERREHRNEREES
the reporting period was HK$119,256,000. Details is presented in 119,256,000/ 7T ° 15 RE&RE 75
Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements. B% B BI5E2027%1) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 —ZF ——

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign
currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group’s financial performance.

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in the functional currencies of the Group entities of
HK$ and Renminbi (“RMB”). The Group currently does not have
a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its
foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event that
counterparties fail to perform their obligations at 31 December
2021 in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the
carrying amounts of those assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Group’s credit risk is primarily
attributable to its trade receivables. In order to minimise credit
risk, the directors have delegated a team to be responsible for the
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures. In addition, the directors review the recoverable
amount of each individual trade debt regularly to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are recognised for irrecoverable
debts. In this regard, the directors consider that the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had certain
concentration of credit risk as approximately 11% (2020: 26%)
and 38% (2020: 52%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due
from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers,
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e AR B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of financial assets on an ongoing basis throughout
each reporting period by comparing the risk of a default occurring
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking information. Especially the following information
is used;

- internal credit rating;

- actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligation; and

- significant changes in the expected performance and
behavior of the borrower, including changes in the payment
status of borrowers.

The Group uses two categories for non-trade receivables
which reflect their credit risk and how the loan loss provision is
determined for each of the categories. In calculating the expected
credit loss rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for each
category and adjusts for forward looking data.

Br —FE-——FF+-A=+—HIFEF

6.

MR EE ()

(b)

FERER(E)

AEBEHRSREERTEARNE
R YRR A 2 B R
NeHEEREEZEERRELGNE
WE PR EEEARIEN - AEH
NERABAERBRIE R ZATHE
B - LEEATIIER

- AEMEERAR

~  FEEEEE KA TR A
HREARD 2L MR
EEHRZ BRI EAT
BB R

- MBERABHRRLITRZERXN
HE - BREERAZNTAR

e

= °

REE AR EER IR HRKE
A URBREEERR KA S5
FIEBEEREBREE - st ERHREE
BEEE  AREZEZERINGE
BB R N AT R -

Category Definition Loss provision
=Wl ER EREE
Performing Low risk of default and strong capacity to pay 12-month expected losses
B4 RE DR R + {6 A TR B 18

Non-performing

JEBX 15 B E\RREREIE 0

Significant increase in credit risk

Lifetime expected losses

KATEHE R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer
term.

The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities is as follows:

e TS ER B MY EE
s — i A —HIFFEE
6. BEEMRERE(E)

(c) RBELEMR
AEBZERATHERB R RTER
ZRBESFR  HMERAEE %
BEEMReHENENEEHEER

HHRBESHFR

AEBZzeRBEIHOMET

Carrying
amounts Total contractual undiscounted cash flow
REE ENRMBRERELE

Lessthan  Between1  Between2 Over
Total iyear and2years and5years 5 years
b - -FE@ME WERLE RENE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET

31 December 2021 “Z--F5+-A=1-H
Trade and other payables EREZRARAMERRR 336,690 336,690 336,690 - - -
Borrowings e 207,520 218,167 218,167 - - -

Amount due to the Controlling ~ FEFHEMRARREER

Shareholder 4 4 41 - - -
Lease liabilities HERRE 22,498 25,080 9,199 7,046 8,835 -
566,749 579,978 564,097 7,046 8,835 -

31 December 2020 —E-EFE+-A=1-H
Trade and other payables ERESERREMEAER 340,541 340,541 340,541 - - -
Borrowings EE 251,012 277,136 105,911 171,225 = =

Amount due to the Controling BT ERIREEH

Shareholder 68 68 068 = = =
Lease liabilities HEAR 20,735 23,307 7,209 5,532 10,566 -
612,356 641,062 453,729 176,757 10,566 -

Interest rate risk

(d) FIREk

HRASEYEBEAFEEELA

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets and
liabilities, the Group’s operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s
amounts due to the Controlling Shareholder and borrowings bear
interests at fixed interest rates.

—EC-FERE

B ARBZEERSRERNE DB
TRTISH R EE) o AKEENER
PR ERARR K A6 B A B E R R AR,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e AR B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z —&F - —

Ft_A=1—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 6.

(e) Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of financial
position approximate their respective fair values.

() Financial instruments by category

The carrying amounts of each of the category of the Group’s
financial instruments at the end of the year are as follows:

B S B B B (48)

(e) A¥E
PR A BTSRRI 2 R [ & @l
BEMEHRBEZROEHAEZAR
FERE -

(h RERESsz2EBMITA

REXR AEESESMTAZER
BT

2021 2020
—E- & ZETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Financial assets SHEE
Investments at fair value through profit or A (EEF ABZZZIHE
loss:
Designated as such upon initial VIRTERBIETE
recognition 54 86
Financial assets at amortised cost REEN AR Z EMEE (BT
(including cash and cash equivalents) HekBE&EEY) 819,883 497,328
Financial liabilities cRIAE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHEAATRZ e BB E 544,251 591,621

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

7.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value
measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three
levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities that the Group can access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

88 Tesson Holdings Limited

ATEIE

AFERRMEATHERENERAZ
5% 1 P MM R B R
@8 o AT AR ERE T RA A FE
R WRBRGABRES 5= B EE
BANBEATE -

- SMHARE - AEBAREE A%
R A AR A AR BE Gk
TR -

F_ERBWABE  REEXRBIEER
FREBRRGHGRE SR 2 HREZH
ZEARE -

FZFERBWABE - EEXABZTATE
RWARIE -

Annual Report 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BUEERE M

FHoA=+—HUFE
DNERTE (&)

M{F

e ——

For the year ended 31 December 2021

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 7.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of any

K’E B BHERRNSIEER 2 EHHE)

of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in circumstances otz BRI = fl:?%&ziq)\jz
that caused the transfer. g o
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy: (@) AFERBEREE:
2021
—E-—F
Fair value measurements using:
AV EFTEHRA
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F-ER FIER FZER et
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FETT FETT FET
Recurring fair value measurements &EHAFEE
Financial assets at fair value BEAFESABRZ 2SR
through profit or loss BE
Listed securities in Hong Kong B EES 54 - - 54
Investment properties "EME - - 57,952 57,952
2020
—ZTTF
Fair value measurements using:
NEFEHMA -
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—FH FIEFL EZFHL et
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THT FHT FA&T THET
Recurring fair value measurements &EMAFLEE
Financial assets at fair value BATEFABREZ SR
through profit or loss BE
Listed securities in Hong Kong B EHES 86 - - 86
Investment properties "EME - - 29,526 29,526

—EC-FERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #ZE_-—F - —F 1+ _-H=+—HIFFZF

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 7. AVEE(E)
(b) Reconciliation of investment properties measured at b) ERF=ZZHRLFEFTEZR

(c)

fair value based on level 3:

BYREK

Investment properties

REYE
2021 2020
—E- ZETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
At 1 January n—A—H 29,526 38,886
Transfer from properties for sale under EREERPSEDNE
development 13,843 -
Disposal of investment properties HEREYE - (10,809)
Fair value loss on investment propertiest® WEYE QT EEEY 13,191 (332)
Currency realignment B 1,392 1,781
At 31 December R+-—A=+—8H 57,952 29,526
# Include gains or losses for assets held at ~ @WEIERIRE B RIFENEE
end of reporting period Eopaey= 13,191 (332)

The total gain or losses recognised in profit or loss including those
for assets held at end of reporting period are presented in fair
value gain on investment properties in the statement of profit or
loss.

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group (c)
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2021:

The Group’s finance team is responsible for the fair value
measurements of assets and liabilities required for financial
reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value measurements. The
finance team reports directly to the Directors for these fair value
measurements. Discussions of valuation processes and results are

R ERNESAR(BRENR
SHRFANEE) ERaRT UK
BEMENRTHEWEZT °

BER-—"F-——F+-A=1+-—
AAKEMRAZEERFRRE
BERGRAFEFRARAZE
ABE

AEBENMHEERE M HERAEA
EHMEERBBRATENE - 8215
F=FHRVEFE - WEEHER
RMEEFE2RZEATEFE - UHBE
BEE=SSFEDETMRABMGE

held between the finance team and the Directors at least twice a BIERERNT ©
year.
For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally RE=FRAFEFEME * A5H

engage external valuation experts with the recognised professional
qualifications and recent experience to perform the valuations.
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(c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2021: (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR E MR
E_F - f A=t —ALFE
7. DVHETEGHE)

(c) WER=-ZBE-—F+=-H=+—

AAKERRAZEERFRE
ERORAFEFEREAZE

ABE (&)
Effect on fair
Valuation Unobservable value for increase Fair value
Description technique inputs Range of inputs 2021
YILIPN bt ZB-F
B fHEHT TABEERABE #E NHEZHE ZAVE
HK$°000
FEr
Investment properties Income approach Term yield 3.8% Increase
REWE WK BHERE byl
Reversion yield 4.3%
EEERE
Adopted market rent RMB24.7 - RMB58.4
s hi ik per sq.m. per month
FREYHAANRBATT
EARMS84T 57,952
Effect on fair
Valuation Unobservable value for increase Fair value
Description technique inputs Range of inputs 2020
SIEPN 6L —ToFTE
TR fhERD TABREARE e AHEZ T2 ZRFHE
HK$'000
FET
Investment properties Income approach Term yield 8.0% Increase
REME WNE BHERE #m
Reversion yield 8.5%
ChERE
Adopted market rent RMB28 per sg.m.
e ik per month
FRETARARK28T 29,526
R —FERE reEgRERAE O



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e AR B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #&ZF —E—-—#+-H=1—HIFZF

8. REVENUE 8. W=
The Group’s revenue was derived from lithium ion motive battery REBRAEE Y W BEE D E88TFH
products sold, plroperty development, Culturaly service rendered gnd HEWES  MERE - FHEER SR
interest sales during the year (2020: The Group’s revenue was derived T T EBMBNE (— B — T : AEE DUk
from lithium ion motive battery products sold, property development and j * ;i f‘ - = *;: R . TRE .
cultural service rendered) during the year. Disaggregation of revenue mRAEE ﬁ%\%ﬁ%@}j} %ﬂgé am mi%
from contracts with customers is set out as below. For both years, & RATRER SRS ) - BFE G H 2 WE
all revenue generated by the Group were derived from the PRC and HAOWT - RMEFEEAN  AEEEAZ
recognised at a point in time when the customers obtain control of the FIBWBABREFRBENAEFEFE @K
goods or services. FRAS 2 22 B B P B 32 -
2021 2020
—B-—F —TEF
HK$°000 HK$000
FET T
Lithium ion motive battery products 1PEEFE) N EMEM 157,691 149,171
Property development and cultural service MR MU IR 11,455 613,720
Internet sales BE S 2,148 -
171,294 762,891
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers and major KERPAYN RS TEEG WD
products of the segments are as follows: mF
Lithium lon Property
Motive and Internet
Battery Cultural Sales
Business Business Business Total
#RFHH MER EBA
ERES S XEEH HEXK st
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
For the year ended BE-_E--F1+=8
31 December 2021 =+—HIEEE
Major products/services FEER/ BB
Batteries i 157,691 - - 157,691
Properties b3 - 536 - 536
Provision of event production service R BB RS - 10,919 - 10,919
Internet sales HHEHEE - - 2,148 2,148
157,691 11,455 2,148 171,294
For the year ended BE-_Z-TF+-H
31 December 2020 =+—BIEEE
Major products/services TEER/ BB
Batteries Bt 149,171 - - 149,171
Properties ME - 603,833 - 603,833
Provision of event production service RELEENEERE - 9,887 - 9,887
149,171 613,720 - 762,391
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

8.

REVENUE (CONTINUED)
Sales of Batteries

The Group manufactures and sells batteries to the customers. Sales are
recognised when control of the products has transferred, being when
the products are delivered to a customer, there is no unfulfilled obligation
that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products and the
customer has obtained legal titles to the products.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms of 30 to 60
days. For non state-owned enterprise or those without guarantee
provided, deposits or cash on delivery may be required. Deposits
received are recognised as contract liability.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered to
the customers as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required before the
payment is due.

Development and sales of properties

The Group develops and sells properties to the customers. Sales of a
contract are recognised when control of the property has transferred,
being when the customer obtains the physical possession or the legal
title of the completed property and the Group has present right to
payment and the collection of the consideration is probable.

Provision of event production service

The Group provides event production service to the customers.
When the progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligations of a contract can be measured reasonably, revenue from the
contract and the contract costs are recognised.

The customers pay the contract prices to the Group according to the
payment schedules as stipulated in the contracts. If the service rendered
by the Group exceeds the payments, a contract asset is recognised.
If the payments exceed the service rendered, a contract liability is
recognised.

—EC-FERE

e B AR B BEE

s — i A —HIFFEE
Yz (48)
HEES

AEELERATFHEED - EEMZ
EHIRESE  NERXNTER - UM
BA Y ERFEMEMMRBHRL R
BFPERFERIBEMARER  ERHE -

AEFELZHEE ZFEEH R RI0E60
Ao 8NERALENEBRRLE  FX
MRIMEEHAE - AR ZIZSHER
REWEE -

BEMXNTEFRERBKEER - U
WER BT EGEN - YRR AERIAEER
-SRI -

L YSE Y E S

AEERERATFHENE - EMEZ
THIREEE  NERFEGRINEZE
BRATERRBIEMBRARANEEER K
U 3R 2 308 R AR 7] BE ER X (BB
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REEBRIERT

AEBEREFFRELEBRIERY - BRI &
B EAMETEEKENETZEAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR E MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #ZE_-—F - —F 1+ _-H=+—HIFFZF

9. OTHER INCOME 9. Hlg A
2021 2020
—E—fF —ZTTF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET T
Government grants R T#E BD 4,725 2,213
Gain on disposal of scrap products SRR = 3,469 1,376
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFAREEERSR 2,747 -
Gain on derecognition of right-of-use assets KR RERE S EES - 117
Rental income Ha A 1,179 1,482
Gain on exchange difference b 5 = R e 1,225 -
Others Hib 2,518 143
15,863 5,331
10. SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. D EER
The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that offer REBZAZHDHAABRBTIAEMZEK
different products. They are managed separately because each business BUXBEN BARSEBZELFTELR
unit requires different technology and marketing strategies. During the KMk migHERERE  ALSAI2|o 5
current year, the Group’s revenue was derived from the Lithium lon HELERE - RAFE - AEEZWRIR
Motive Battery Business, the Property and Cultural Business and internet BEE T NENEL WEERULER
sales business. In the prior year, the Group’s revenue was derived from NEBEHEEER RNE—FEF  ~A&HE
the lithium ion motive battery business, property and cultural business. 2R BB TN EMEB AR
RUb R
Segment profits or losses do not include unallocated corporate income D E R KEEL NBEARDEEFERA
and expenses. Segment assets do not include unallocated corporate FAY - DEEBEELTNBRIERDECESE
assets. Segment liabilities do not include unallocated corporate liabilities. E- DHEBUTRERANELERE -

94 Tesson Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #ZE - F - —F 1+ _-H=+—HIFZF

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 10. D HER(E)
Information about profit or loss, assets and liabilities of the reportable BRAAEHROIEFHEE  BEELEE
segments: HEHR -
Lithium lon Property
Internet Motive and
Sales Battery Cultural
Business Business Business Total
EHR H#EFEH MER
HEER EEY XL EHK Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Year ended 31 December 2021 BZE-_E-_-F1+=H
=t-HLEFE
Revenue from extemal customers MR P 2,148 157,691 11,455 171,294
Segment loss NEEE (1,936) (291,134) (193,611) (486,681)
Depreciation e 19 67,610 932 68,561
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 205 5,398 2,999 8,602
Additions to segment non-current assets  RE D HPIEREEE - 7,007 18,550 25,557
At 31 December 2021 R=Z=—-F+=H
=+-H
Segment assets DEEE 15,474 577,941 1,932,279 2,525,694
Segment liabilities DEEE 7,294 280,858 1,319,713 1,607,865
Year ended 31 December 2020 BE-_E-_ZFt+_A
=t-HLEE
Revenue from external customers IR PR - 149,171 613,720 762,891
Segment (loss)/profit DE(ER) 5F - (86,370) 184,168 97,798
Depreciation e - 62,418 1,122 63,540
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE - 8,205 1,784 9,989
Additions to segment non-current assets ~ AB A BIERBEE = 5,075 757 5,832
At 31 December 2020 R-B-EE+_H
Er=F
Segment assets NHEE - 774,096 2,214,553 2,988,649
Segment liabilities AHEE - 289,806 1,342,479 1,632,285
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR E MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #&ZF —E—-—#+-H=1—HIFZF

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 10. D EPER (E
Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, assets and AIEWmo W  RAEEE BEMEA
liabilities: EHER
2021 2020
—E-—-F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Revenue Wz
Total revenue of reportable segments A 285 A 171,294 762,891
Profit or loss A E R
Total (loss)/profit of reportable segments A2HD L (EE) 5 F (486,681) 97,798
Corporate and unallocated loss ERRDBLEIE (14,333) (58,316)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EER), B (501,014) 39,482
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments A2 HREE 2,525,694 2,988,649
Corporate and unallocated assets PERADEEE 2,737 5,146
Consolidated total assets REBEE 2,528,431 2,993,795
Liabilities afE
Total liabilities of reportable segments AIEMO LB E 1,607,865 1,632,285
Corporate and unallocated liabilities rERRDEEE 129,962 121,120
Consolidated total liabilities mERaE 1,737,827 1,753,405
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Geographical information
All revenue generated by the Group were derived from the PRC.

No customer individually contributed over 10% of total revenue of the
Group for both years.

In presenting the geographical information, revenue is based on the
location of the customers. At the end of the year, the non-current assets
of the Group were located as follows:

e TSR E MEE

Br—E-——Ff+ - H=1—HIFZF
10 /\ﬁﬁﬁ*}}(mﬁ)
HEER

AEE AR RERAETE

RBEFEAN  TERXFEBHAEER
UWEE10%BA |

RETH R ERE - Wi s P i Sl
7o RER - AREIFRBEEN MBI
-

2021 2020
—E- & ZETF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Non-current assets FREBEE
Hong Kong E5 1,179 2,717
The PRC Fh 515,233 803,153
516,412 805,870
11. FINANCE COSTS 11. MERAE
2021 2020
—E-—fF —ETF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Interest expenses on borrowings EENERY 20,346 20,338
Interest expenses on bills SEMN SR 96
Imputed interest expense on convertible bonds  AIH A% & {E 5T S - 1,579
Interest expenses on amount due to FEHEERR AR SR
the Controlling Shareholder BRRA B F 2 - 2,893
Lease interests fﬂ‘%%lj,m 1,727 1,575
Interest expenses on deposit received EET A EMAX 1,019 =
23,188 26,385
Less: Interest capitalisation i FEERME (13,546) (13,434)
9,642 12,951
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e AR B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE—F—

— A=+ —AIEE

12. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSES 12. FIBHR(ER) X

2021 2020

=EF-—F i

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET T

PRC Enterprise Income Tax for the year REFFRBEPEMSH 4 90,401

PRC land appreciation tax MR B A+ A (E F - 6,046
Deferred tax (Note 30) IRIEFRIA(M13230) (36,779) (22,955)
(36,775) 73,492

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax was required since the Group
has no assessable profit in Hong Kong for the years presented.

According to the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax, all group
companies operating in the PRC are subject to the applicable tax rate
of 25%, except for certain subsidiaries that are qualified for the tax
benefit of being the National High-tech Enterprise, that are entitled to a
preferential tax rate of 15% during the reporting years.

HRARERZ2Y|FEETE L EERK
Al - BUBAREEMNSTIEL R -

RIBHECEMRFHZE - NP BELENM
BEBERRARERRE25%HMMBIAE
HETHEBARNAERZFARRSHK
MERZHRHEEE  AIRBEFEERE

BHE15% °

The reconciliation between the income tax and the (loss)/profit before tax FTSTR R Fi AT (B518), 8 F 2 HERIN T :
is as follows:

2021 2020

—E-—fF —ZTTF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAETT FET

(Loss)/profit before tax B F Al (E51R) % (537,789) 112,974
Notional tax on (loss)/profit before tax BHEEER R E R A

calculated at the PRC statutory rate (B1R), &%z &EHE (134,447) 28,244

Tax effect of non-taxable income BERBIMA Z BiF 2 (1,168) (379)

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses DA S 2 2 5,309 363

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIERTIBEE 2 B 2 69,890 31,202
Effect of different tax rates in other tax HBRE e E R TR R &

jurisdictions and tax concessions IR 2 2 23,641 14,062

Income tax (credit)/expenses for the year FRMEREER), X (36,775) 78,492
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E M

A E i = — I FEE
13. REE (F58), &5F

13a.) AEEAFE(ER), SafnRink T

For the year ended 31 December 2021

13. (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

13a.) The Group’s (loss)/profit for the year is stated after charging the

following: HIHIBEFR
2021 2020
—EBZ—fF —E-THF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FET
Auditor’s remuneration IZEEN BN < 1,180 1,200
Cost of inventories sold EEFERA 156,580 461,706
Depreciation e 69,319 64,317
Depreciation of right of use asset FREEENE 9,394 10,991
Gain on disposal of Right-of-use asset LEFREEE 2 W 2,747 -
Provision of litigation issue FAEEEE 6,254 -
Loss on disposal of properties for HEERRREEME Y EIR
sale under development 5,812 -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWME - BERREZEER
equipment 6,670 524
Loss on early redemption of IeRER R ES 2 EE
convertible bond - 15,706
Loss on disposal of investment properties ~ HEREYE T B - 9,377
Research and development expenses T MRS 13,906 5,947
Staff costs (including directors’ BIRA(BIREESME —H7E14) :
remuneration — note 14):
Salaries, bonus and allowances E2 17 I N Y= = 65,544 65,424
Retirement benefits BIREF 4,721 2,768

—EC-FERE

xezraRA® QO



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

H
:%/T\ A\H

BAF5 B B By EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 & Z.

— s —
Z=
— =

— A=+ —AIEE

13. (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (CONTINUED)

13b.) Impairment loss/written-off on various assets:

Note:

13.

REE(EE), a8 ()

13b.) ZTHEERERE I

2021 2020
—E- & ZETHF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Impairment loss on various assets ZIEEEZREEE
Impairment of inventories (note) FEZREHZ) 20,564 -
Impairment on the properties for ERPGEYE A
sale under development 130,084 -
Impairment on the goodwiill R A 106,855 -
Impairment loss on a joint venture bR REER 10,180
Impairment on trade receivables FEUNE SRR ZRE 40,510 1,778
Impairment on other receivables MU IR K 2 BB 7,617 513
315,810 2,291
Written-off on various assets ZIEEE 2 sH
Written off of inventories (note) FEMEHE) 993 -
Written off of property, plant and Y -« BB KR E 2 M (A7)
equipment (note) 62,440 _
63,433 -
In late June 2021, there was a fire accident happened in one of Biit - MZZBEZ—FNATE @ KEBNRER
the workshops in the Group’s Phase | production base in Weinan, TER Y —HAAEEN  Hb—(FE
Shaanxi. Hopefully, there were no casualties. In the accident, certain RZEAE NS PRz AMBT o Big
production equipment amounting to approximately HK$62,440,000 and #4962,440,000% 7T ZB 9 £ E BB R
inventories (i.e.batteries) amounting to approximately HK$993,000 were Z’j993 0003 T A 1S (BB ) & 5018

totally destroyed. Other battery products amounting to approximately
HK$20,564,000 were suffered to less severe level of damages due to

blackening or water damage.

'] OO Tesson Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IBERE
For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZ—F_——F -+ -_A=+—HIFFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 14. EERANUREEHFALT ZHME
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments of each Director were as follows: BEE MW -
Retirement
Salaries benefits
and other scheme
Fees benefits  contributions Total
E230 )4 RIER
ne Hib & AR Bt
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FAET FET FET
Executive Directors BITES
Ms. Cheng Hung Mui BaTigat 180 1,218 18 1,416
Mr. Tin Kong A LE 180 914 18 1,112
Mr. Chan Wei BELE(R-Z=—F
(appointed on 28 July 2021) TAZTN\BEZRT) 77 993 18 1,088
Ms. Liu Liu Art(R_T_—F
(appointed on 28 July 2021) tAZTN\REZAE) 77 436 - 513
Mr. Chen Dekun GEmtE(RZ2=—%
(retired on 25 June 2021) NAZTRARE) 88 467 - 555
Mr. Sheng Siguang BERAREER=T=—F
(retired on 25 June 2021) NAZTHEERE) 88 875 - 963

Independent Non-Executive Directors BUFHTES

Dr. Ng Ka Wing RREEL 180 - - 180
Mr. Wang Jinlin TEMmaE 180 - - 180
Mr. See Tak Wah HEfEEE o A 180 - - 180
Total for the year ended BE-T_—F
31 December 2021 +-RB=+—H
IFERER 1,230 4,903 54 6,187

—Bo—FEHE xeEzpaRaa 1)1



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e AR B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

= —

PCE A=A —HIFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 14. EERINVBREHFATZHME
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) (%)
Retirement
Salaries benefits
and other scheme
Fees benefits contributions Total
HM & RINER
e HiEH ST st
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FET FAT
Executive Directors HTESE
Ms. Cheng Hung Mui Barigat 180 1,218 18 1,416
Mr. Tin Kong A & 180 980 18 1,178
Mr. Chen Dekun BRiEsh st & 180 960 - 1,140
Mr. Sheng Siguang BAEE 180 1,800 - 1,980
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUFHTES
Dr. Ng Ka Wing RRKEL 180 - - 180
Mr. Wang Jinlin TeMmaE 180 - - 180
Mr. See Tak Wah mEELE 180 - - 180
Total for the year ended HE-Z-ZTF
31 December 2020 TZA=+-RLE
FRMA 1,260 4,958 36 6,254

The five highest paid employees during the year included four (2020:
three) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in information
above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining one (2020: two) non-
director, highest paid employees for the year are as follows:

RAFEAfUGEEFHREEEENE(ZF=
THEZR)EF - AMeFBER LA

B RERBRT—R(=

= —

= —=

=

F:mA)

HEEHZSFEE CHEFBWT ¢

2021 2020

—E-—fF —Z=TF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Salaries and other benefits SN N E A Ag A 1,200 2,400

'] 02 Tesson Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The number of non-directors, highest paid employees whose

e B AR B BEE
HE=F=—

—E—FF _H="A—HIFE

1¢%§&£&%%ﬁAiZM§

MENFTIBEZIESESFHEEZ

remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: HEWT :
Number of employees
EEHE
2021 2020

—E-—-F —EFF
Emolument band & &5 E
HK$1,000,001- HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T — 1,500,000/ 7T 1 2
During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no emoluments NEE T - —EFEKN T -_FT&F+ - A

were paid by the Group to the five highest paid individuals, including
directors, as an inducement to join the Group or as compensation for
loss of office other than those disclosed above. In addition, during the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no directors waived any
emoluments.

The Group provides retirement benefits in accordance with the relevant
laws and regulations in the place where the staff is employed. The Group
participates in the Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme
for its employees located in Hong Kong, under which contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employee’s basic salary according
to the rules of the scheme. Forfeited contributions may not be used to
reduce the existing level of contributions.

15. DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

16. LOSS PER SHARE
Basic loss per share
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately HK$326,942,000 (2020:
HK$25,198,000), and the weighted average number of 1,214,571,508
(2020: 1,196,485,700) ordinary shares in issue during the year.
Diluted loss per share
No diluted loss per share is presented as the Company did not have

any dilutive potential ordinary shares during the two years ended
31 December 2021 and 2020.

—EC-FERE

=t—BLEFE  AEEBERR XA
BREENZOAUSREHFAL(BERESR)X
NS - (FRMBARSEEZE - HER
REBMZEEE - to > REBE=-F——
FR-FZEF+_A=+—HILHFE
MEEEHRETAME -

REEIZRE Tt e ERDE R ERIR
HRRER - AREREUNTEHEER
2mE st RS RAENEE - RIEZ
AEIMRA ARERBEEEEATEN
—E B AR HER < SRRER B AR
PRAKIR B M BUKF

15. RS

ﬁi_gifﬁﬁL*ﬂfﬁLfﬁtif
ExeVEZZRNEMARE(ZF
FE) e

16. BREE
SREREE

SREREBEIERN QRS ARG ARFE
JE B 18 49326,942,000/8 L (B T4 ¢
25,198,000/ 7)) KN AFEE BITL B
2 INiE 581,214,571 508Hx —ECF
£ 1 1,196,485,7000% )5t &

BEREEER

¢+ ﬂ —f— EIJJ:FWIEJ;I?%EEHE:

BEYENBELER  HUEZ2YER
BEEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR E MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #ZE_-—F - —F 1+ _-H=+—HIFFZF

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. V¥ - BERRE
Leasehold  Plantand Motor Office Construction
Buildings improvements  machinery vehicles  equipment  in progress Total
HENE

g7 i HEERAR B BOERE  ERIE it
HKBO00  HKBOO0  HKSOO0  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSOO0  HK$O000
TAT TET TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT

Cost or valuation AT EE
At 1 January 2020 RZ2Z%5-A-F 54,082 48512 309,373 4239 3784 36,090 456,080
Currency realignment EhAE 3,337 2,884 19,013 155 253 2,383 28,025
Additions HE - - 1417 597 460 3365 5839
Disposals iH& - (1,579) - (128) (1) - (1,708)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 RZB-EF+-A=+-AR

“E--5-f-R 57,419 49817 329,803 4,863 449 41838 488236
Currency realignment RHEE 1021 1832 10,700 o1 157 1230 15,031
Additions RE 108 8 2679 4 500 1627 5,042
Disposals iHE - (697) (6,389) - (10) - (7,005)
Witten-off s (58,549) - (13,109 (32 (19) - (71,708
Transfers B85 - 12,201 (244) - 134 (12,181) =
At 31 December 2021 R-E--£+-fA=1-8 - 63,327 303,441 4,966 5258 3514 429506

Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZHERAE

At 1 January 2020 RZE-2F-F-H - - - - - - -
Qurrency realignment LR 204 490 2,564 55 73 - 3386
Charge for the year EREY 3799 10,009 47,082 1841 1,386 - 64,317
Disposals i3 - (874) - (68) 1) - (043
31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 RIE-EE+-A=1-REk
—2-—#-f-A 4003 9625 49,846 1828 1458 = 66,760
Qurrency realignment BHRE l 466 2433 49 69 - 3,088
Charge for the year AR 2,037 9837 54,464 1546 143 - 69319
Disposals i3 - (210) (213 - @2 - (425)
Witten off s (6,111) = (3,129) (14) (14 - (9,269)
31 December 2021 R_E_—FT-A=1-A - 19,718 103401 3409 2,046 - 129474
Carrying amounts RAE
At 31 Decernber 2021 R-E_—F+-A=1-A - 43,609 220,040 1557 2312 2514 300,032
At 31 December 2020 R-E-FE+-A=1-R 53416 40,192 279957 3035 3038 41,838 491,476
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 g2 —F -~ —F+ _H=+—HIFZE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. ¥ - BEKRE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Had all the categories of the Group’s property, plant and equipment, WAEE KEWHE - MELRRE(EEL
other than construction in progress, been carried at cost less T2 AN THIREAE 25 €518 - A1Y
accumulated depreciation, the carrying values of property, plant and ¥ HENEERELNTYERmEYE

equipment would have been stated as follows:

2021 2020

ZB--f -E-EE
Accumulated Accumulated
depreciation depreciation

and Carrying and Carrying

Cost  impairment amounts Cost  imparment amounts
ihE ZitHE

A RAE REE g KR REE

HK$'000  HKS000  HK$000  HKSO000  HK$000  HK'000
FET FET FET TAT T TAT

Building EF - - - 26,283 9,891 16,392
Leasehold improvements REMEEE 47,589 22,191 25,398 43403 12,008 31,305
Plant and machinery iR R e 422,245 209,794 212,451 429,357 159,338 270,019
Motor vehicles B 9,195 8,517 678 9,095 6,946 2,149
Office equipment NG 8,024 5,862 2,162 7,322 4,434 2,888

487,053 246,364 240,689 515,460 192,707 322,753
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e AR B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

N — EE —
==

— A=+ —AIEE

18. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

18. HERGEREEE

Disclosures of lease-related items: WERIHEMERIIER ¢
2021 2020
—E-—fF —ETHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEIT
At 31 December: R+=—A=+—8":
Right-of-use assets FREEE
- Land ] 77,967 103,060
— Building —EF 19,379 17,850
97,346 120,910
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted ERKRURBEMENTEE
cash flows, of the Group’s lease liabilities is as HEAEMNIBHASITWOT
follows:
Within one year —F R 9,199 7,209
In the second year F_F 7,046 5,532
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F-FEFERAF(BREEMT) 8,835 10,566
25,080 23,307
Year ended 31 December: BE+-A=+—HLEFE:
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREESENITERS
- Land — i 1,934 2,015
— Building —BF 7,460 8,976
9,394 10,991
Total cash outflow for leases HEMR SRR 4,687 8,463
Additions to right-of-use assets RNEERAEEE 8,412 1,985
Lease interests HER S 1,727 1,575

The Group leases various buildings and land. Lease agreements
are typically made for fixed periods of 3 to 9 years. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants and the leased assets may not be used as security for

borrowing purposes.

'] 06 Tesson Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #ZE - F - —F 1+ _-H=+—HIFZF

18. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. HERFAREEE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Present value Present value
Lease of lease Lease of lease
payments payments payments payments
2021 2021 2020 2020
e HE

HEMAR NRBRE HERT NFRE
—E--F —E--F —Z-%F %%

HK$°000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET FHT

Within one year —FR 9,199 7,886 7,209 6,283

In the second year FoF 7,046 6,225 5,532 4,736

In the third to fifth years, inclusive E-EEFRF(REEENE) 8,835 8,387 10,566 9,716

Over five years FEPE - - - _

25,080 22,498 23,307 20,735

Future finance charges AEBEER (2,582) - (2,572) -

Present value of lease obligations TREAERE 22,498 22,498 20,735 20,735
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 JE - P2E AREIEEETUR

months (shown under current liabilities) (NEBEETHR) (7,886) (5,144)

Non-current portion FERE LD 14,612 15,591
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e AR B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #ZE_-—F - —F 1+ _-H=+—HIFFZF

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

19. REWE

2021 2020

—E—fF —ZTTF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FETT FET

At 1 January n—A—H 29,526 38,886

Transfer from properties for sale under EREERPFEME
development 13,843

Disposal of investment properties HEREMZE - (10,809)

Fair value gain/(loss) AFEWE S (EE) 13,191 (332)
Currency realignment B 1,392 1,781
At 31 December w“+—-—A=+—H 57,952 29,526

Investment properties were revalued at 31 December 2021 and 2020 on
the open market value basis by reference to capitalisation of net income
derived from the existing tenancies of the properties by APAC Appraisal
and Consulting Limited, an independent firm of qualified surveyors.

The Group leases out certain of its investment properties under operating
leases. The average lease term is 9-20 years. Certain leases are on
variable lease payments with growth rate 5% and 8% respectively.

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, no investment properties pledged as
security for the Group’s bank loans.

'] 08 Tesson Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #ZE - F - —F 1+ _-H=+—HIFZF

20. GOODWILL 20. HE
HK$’000
FET
Cost R
At 1 January 2020 N—_ZE-_TF—H—H 207,695
Currency realignment BB 12,713
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 R-E-ZF+-_/A=+—H8BK
—E-—9F—HF—H 220,408
Currency realignment B A 5,703
At 31 December 2021 RZE-_—F+=-A=+—H 226,111
Accumulated impairment losses ?*“HJE‘HEEE
Impairment losses recognised in REBEEZZ_TF+-A= Jr HIEFE
the year ended 31 December 2020 and R /JWEJESTE &E/‘f 2-TF+-A
balance at 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 —t+—HR-ZZE-_—F—A—HNEH -
Impairment loss recognised during the year REZHRNBAEBRE (106,855)
At 31 December 2021 R-EBE-_—F+-A=+—H (106,855)
Carrying amounts REE
At 31 December 2021 R-_E-_—F+-_A=+—H 119,256
At 31 December 2020 RZE_FTF+_A=+—H 220,408
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, I ASEETINEE Y R BN RS E SRS
to the cash generating units (“CGUSs”) that are expected to benefit from BT ENEREAEMN 2R EALEN
that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill had been ([REELEEMN]) BHEZEREDRES
allocated as follows: BeZE A NIR G EEAE BB AT ¢
2021 2020
—EB-—fF —ETHF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FETT FEIT
Property development unit YEFREEEN 119,256 220,408
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= AN

7 g =

For the year ended 31 December 2021

20.

21.

BAF5 B B By EE

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined on the basis
of their value in use using discounted cash flow method. The key
assumptions for the discounted cash flow method are those regarding
the discount rates, growth rates and budgeted gross margin and
revenue during the period. The Group estimates discount rates using
pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based
on long — term average economic growth rate of the geographical area
in which the businesses of the CGUs operate. Budgeted gross margin
and revenue are based on past practices and expectations on market
development.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent
financial budgets approved by the Directors for the next five years with
the residual period using the growth rate of 3%. This rate does not
exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets.

The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows from the Group’s is

Br —FE-——FF+-A=+—HIFEF

20. BE(E)

ReELFEMMA CRES BT EREMRR
ﬁii%ji”mégxiu BEOEREEETE - B3R
RBeREAMRANERRRITANEAR

BRI R -

MR - ARBEA AR RERE FIHE

WEX . FE

TRAF

ESVUESSE ON

ZEIN

BRENFHEEReEEEMFERRD
BRI MR AE AR E - ERERAIRES
EA B EEBMAED RN FIHRAK
MPETEEE BEEMNXEEATIR

BB &

ISR A% -

AEERENBERERRAEESH]

ERARAEFNEOETHRESE -
ZEEERWABBEBEM

8% B3% ¢
BT RIERE -

FRUABRRAEERRARE

IR HA

MEMH XL

16%. 16% o
INVENTORIES 21. &
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Raw materials Rt 15,416 6,935
Work in progress ERG 2,501 6,553
Finished goods RIBK G 24,261 17,382
42,178 30,870
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e TSR E MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #ZE - F - —F 1+ _-H=+—HIFZF

22. PROPERTIES FOR SALE UNDER DEVELOPMENT

22, BREPEHEYE

HK$'000
FET
At 1 January 2020 R _ZTF—H—H 1,579,488
Additions INE 304,516
Properties completed and sold BT NBEEYE (309,043)
Currency realignment B (8,834)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 RZE-_TF+-_A=+—HK
—E-—4%—H—H 1,566,127
Additions NE 376,846
Transfer to investment properties HEBEIREYE (13,843)
Disposals upon termination (Note) RIERF N E (HYE) (848,261)
Impairment on the properties for sale under development BRAPEEMEZRE (130,084)
Currency realignment BT 42,872
At 31 December 2021 RE-_—F+-_A=+—H 993,657

All the properties under development were located in the PRC. At 31
December 2021, properties for sale under development held by the Group
located in Nanning, with carrying value of approximately HK$444,004,000
(2020: HK$274,711,000) was secured for the bank loans.

Note: On 19 November 2021, the Group terminated the agreement with the
government in relation to the Land Plots in Lishui District, Nanjing City, Jiangsu
Province, the PRC. Details of which were disclosed in the announcement
dated 24 November 2021. After the termination, properties for sale under
development approximately HK$848 million were disposed. Out of which,
a cash consideration of HK$403 million was received. The remaining of
approximately HK$439 million were accrued in other receivables. A loss of
HK$6 million was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

—EC-FERE

FrERERYEHMNPE R-T——
F+ZA=+—H ROTEFHAEEHF
BRBRETAEMEREER ZEME
A E - BREEL A444,004,00078 7T
“ZFF : 274,711,00087T) ©

M -R=ZE=_—F+—A+hB AEELKL
BT E P EI &R R TEKE ]
M - FERBHAZZ=—F+—A
ZHVEMASHEE o KRIEE - 4)8.4818
BITHERPHAEMEED - EH&ZHXEIEP
MR & RB4.03BHE T - HERrK14.30B5
TLE T AE M EUERFK ° 60085 L& 18
ERGEBERER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e AR B MYEE
For the year ended 31 December 2021 g2 - ZF - —F+ - H=+—HIFFZE

23. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES, OTHER
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

23. EWESRAKRERRERE - Hit
FEWUERRR ~ AT & RN RIE

2021 2020

—E-—fF —ETF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAETT FEIT

Trade receivables FEWE 5 R 43,967 109,854
Less: Impairment losses O OR(EEE (6,804) (14,524)
37,163 95,330

Bills receivable e - 734
Value-added tax receivables FEIE(E R 62,997 88,621
Other tax receivables H i el T 18 1,073 597
Consideration receivable (Note 22) M RE(Hi22) 439,269 -
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables TENREIE - 518 REAEKEIR 43,415 28,409
583,917 213,691

Trade and bills receivables EWE SRR R ERERE

The aging of bills receivable at the end of reporting period are falling
within 60 days.

The Group allows an average credit period of 30 to 60 days to its
customers which are state-owned enterprise or those with guarantee
provided, and cash on delivery for all other customers. The following is
an aging analysis of trade and bills receivables, presented based on the
invoice date at the end of the years:

HERREERE 2Rk B60H A °

HRBECERFPADRBERZIER

AEBE i T FIRKRMB0E60R : MATA
HEPHUERMZ T NETRS © A
TREKREZIEANEREENEFER

BREZHM2F 2R

2021 2020

—E-—-F —T-FF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

0 to 60 days 0£60H 18,138 33,758
61 to 90 days 61290H 1,218 7,682
Over 90 days 90H A 17,807 54,624
37,163 96,064
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 g2 —F -~ —F+ _H=+—HIFZE

23. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES, OTHER 23. ERE SR KRERELE - Hib
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS FEWERT ~ ST& RFENTIE(E)
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of trade receivables W E S RFURE
Reconciliation of loss allowance for trade receivables: B E SRR BB B AR ¢
2021 2020
—E—fF —ZTTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
At beginning of the year REH (14,524) (12,011)
Impairment on trade receivables FEWE SRR 2 RE (40,510) (1,778)
Written off the impairment for the year NEEMERE 48,585 -
Currency realignment BT (355) (735)
At the end of the year RER (6,804) (14,524)
Impairment of other receivables H {th FE W BR FURLE
Reconciliation of loss allowance for other receivables: H b e U BE 2 > B 1a B A I EE
2021 2020
—EB-—fF —E-THF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
At beginning of the year REH) (7,588) (6,641)
Impairment on other receivables H h FEURER R Z R E (7,617) (513)
Written off the impairment for the year RNEEHEHRE 1,316 -
Currency realignment B (348) (434)
At the end of the year RER (14,237) (7,588)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e AR B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z _—ZFE_——4#+_-HA=+—HIFZF

23. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES, OTHER 23. EWE SRR EWERE - Hith
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS FEUWERR » T RFENTIE(E (,, )
(CONTINUED)

Trade and bills receivables that are not impaired WHRBEZEKRE SRR EKRE
The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 “Financial AEBRBEETBRELELZOWRI 2@/
Instrument” to provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime THRJBET 2% FRXKATERSER
expected loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the EHEMBEWKE SERZEBHEEEET
expected credit losses, trade and bills receivables have been grouped ?Eﬁ‘é‘{% BITE2ERHEEEE  BRES
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The T REWZEDIRBEEEERRSE,
expected credit losses also incorporate forward looking information. &;ﬁﬁ,ﬁ KEDEE - IFBEAZE BB I BEIER]
EMER o
Lessthan  Over 60 days
60 days and less than
Current past due 1 year Over 1 year Total
Y AHRBB60A
B 60/ BIR—F —F5E st
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 31 December 2021 R-B=Z-F
T=A=+-8
Weighted average expected loss rate 1978 HiEE % 0% 0% 16% 39%
Receivable amount ik 17,711 2,19 11,021 13,039 43,967
Loss allowance EERE = = (1,752) (5,052) (6,804)
At 31 December 2020 R-BZEF
T=A=+-8
Weighted average expected loss rate #3978 HiEHE = 0% 0% 10% 28%
Receivable amount iG] 42,724 4,056 17,788 46,020 110,588
Loss allowance FiEEE = = (1,778) (12,746) (14,624)

'I '] 4 Tesson Holdings Limited
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23.

24,

25.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES, OTHER
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Trade and bills receivables that are not impaired
(Continued)

Trade receivables that were not past due relate to a wide range of
customers who has no recent history of default. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances.

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track record with
the Group. Based on past experience, the management believes that no
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there
has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are
still considered fully recoverable.

AMOUNT DUE FROM A NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER OF A SUBSIDIARY

The amount represented financial assistance provided by Nanchang
Rongzhou Investment Company Limited* (F8 & & INZE B R A7)
(“Nanchang Investment”) to its shareholder before the completion of
the capital contribution on 26 October 2018. The amount due from a
non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary is secured by its assets and
undistributed earnings, non-interest bearing, and had no fixed term of

repayment.

RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES AND BANK AND
CASH BALANCES

At the end of year, bank and cash balances of the Group denominated
in RMB amounted equivalent to approximately HK$52,728,000 (2020:
HK$66,499,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject
to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

At the end of the reporting period, the restricted bank balances of the
Group represented guarantee deposits for construction of pre-sale
properties denominated in RMB placed in designated accounts.

—EC-FERE

23.

24,

25.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS ER B MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #&ZF —E—-—#+-H=1—HIFZF

26. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES 26. ENESERR ENEERHEM
FE{ BR X

2021 2020

—EB-—F —E_TF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAETT FET

Trade payables T E SRR 82,929 91,949
Amounts payable on acquisition of property, WHEMZE « R KRtz

plant and equipment FERTFIE 136,461 171,587

Accruals and other payables FERTE R R EM TR 117,300 77,005

336,690 340,541

The aging of bills payable at the end of the year falls within 180 days
(2020: 180 days).

An aging analysis of the trade payables at the end of the reporting
period, based on invoice dates, is as follows:

RER BNEEZERAISOR(ZEZ

T4 180H ) °

UTARBEMRREZAREI 2N

B 5RO

2021 2020

—E-—-F —E-FF

HK$°000 HK$’000

FHET T

0 to 60 days 0Z60H 37,041 40,939
61 to 90 days 61%90H 1,488 6,987
Over 90 days Q0B A 44,400 44,023
82,929 91,949

'] /] 6 Tesson Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 g2 —F -~ —F+ _H=+—HIFZE

27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 27. BHEE
Disclosures of revenue-related items: W AKEREIE B 155 -
As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 1 January
2021 2020 2020
RIB-—F RIZTZTF RIZZE2HF
+=A=+—-8 +=A=+—8H —A—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Total contract liabilities BHAaEEsE 1,002,240 938,905 1,228,995
Transaction prices allocated to RERDIEEERIEKEL
performance obligations unsatisfied BEELIEHRATFEE
at end of year and expected to be BRAEVAZZHE :
recognised as revenue in:
- 2021 ——F-—%F - 751,664
- 2022 ——F-—- 1,026,276 236,246
1,026,276 987,910
2021 2020
—E-—fF e eSS
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEIT
Year ended 31 December HE+t-_A=t+—HIEE
Revenue recognised in the year that was included REFETAS N BEZ ER
in contract liabilities at beginning of year N - 603,833
Significant changes in contract liabilities during FREHABZERES :
the year:
Increase due to operations in the year IR SRl 5 T 3 67,149 207,308
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue EREHNBEE RS (980) (554,016)
A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer AENBEEEAEERNBREEREBMAEARE
products or services to a customer for which the Group has received EELSRETFTREEZEE -

consideration from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e AR B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #&ZF —E—-—#+-H=1—HIFZF

28. BORROWINGS 28. &8

2021 2020
—E—fF —ZTTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Bank loans IRITEN 122,520 166,012
Other borrowing EmEE 85,000 85,000
207,520 251,012

Analysed as: DHTA
Secured Pegiiwii 122,520 166,012
Unsecured 44 R 85,000 85,000
207,520 251,012

At 31 December 2021, bank loans were secured by the properties under
development held by the Group located in Nanning with carrying value of
approximately HK$444,004,000 (2020: HK$274,711,000).

Bank borrowings for the years are denominated in RMB. And other
borrowings for the years are denominated in HK$.

Other borrowing of HK$85,000,000 was unsecured and repayable within
1 year. The effective interest rates per annum at the end of the years
were as follows:

R-BE-_—F+-A=+—0  RBITEX
HASERENERPYERBEER %
EMEMNREE - BREEL A444,004,000
BIT(ZTE - 1 274,711,000/ 7T) °

EFEZRITEEHUAARBHE - &F
Bz & EHAETTAHE

H i & & 85,000,000/ 7T /& B4R K 78
FRER - REFERNERFNEMAT

2021 2020
—E-—fF i S
Borrowings: BE :
Fixed-rate TEE 8.00%-8.50% 8.00%-8.50%
The borrowings are repayable as follows: BEEANATREEE
2021 2020
—EB—fF —E-THF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FT FET
On demand or within one year RBNR—FR 207,520 251,012

'] /] 8 Tesson Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B AR B BEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 g2 —F -~ —F+ _H=+—HIFZE

29. AMOUNT DUE TO THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and had no fixed
term of repayment.

30. DEFERRED TAX

The following are the detailed deferred tax liabilities and assets
recognised by the Group.

29.

30.

FEA 12 IR AR SR AR K

S RELT - 8 MEETEERBR -

IEFER IR

UTAAREERECHARBREE
ZFHB -

Properties  Revaluation
for sale  of property, Revaluation
under plant and of investment
development equipment properties Total
BER  EffNE- B
HENE  BERRE REME st
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FHET FET
At 1 January 2020 RZZ=TF—H—H 85,487 8,713 5,093 99,293
Credit to consolidated FTARAEBER
statement of profit or loss (22,642) - (313) (22,955)
Currency realignment B 4,024 517 296 4,837
At 31 December 2020 and RZZE-ZTFE+-B=1+—HK
1 January 2021 —Z-—%—H—H 66,869 9,230 5,076 81,175
Credit to consolidated SAEAERE
statement of profit or loss (32,521) (7,555) 3,297 (36,779
Transfer EEE (1,398) - 1,398 -
Currency realignment EEEE 1,714 188 279 2,181
At 31 December 2021 R-E-_—F+-_A=+—H 34,664 1,863 10,050 46,577

At the end of the reporting period, subject to the agreements with
the tax authority, the Group has unused tax losses of approximately
HK$222,286,000 (2020: HK$200,432,000) for subsidiaries incorporated
in Hong Kong available for offset against future profits of approximately
HK$222,286,000 (2020: HK$200,432,000) and such tax losses may be
carried forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
for these tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams of
those subsidiaries.

—EC-FERE

RIFEHR - BLEBBERERE  A5E
REBEMEIL 2B AR Z A HH
THE A 52222860008 L ( —E - =
F : 200,432,000 7T ) + A AIEE SR 2R
s A 49 222,286,0008 70 (= F =T F
200,432,000/ 7T ) * #% % FIH & 18 Al & R
HAEEE o A KRAETBAIRZSHE AR ZH
B F AR - MARBRZETIEBERER
FEEHEEE ©

xEzRERAa |10



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR E MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #ZE_-—F - —F 1+ _-H=+—HIFFZF

31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. &=
Number of
Note shares HK$’000
k=3 R H FET
Authorised: JETE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 0108 2 Z Bk
At 1 January 2020, 31 December WZZE_TF—-H—H"
2020, 1 January 2021 and —E-FFE+_A=+—8 -
31 December 2021 —E-—4F—HA—HBKk
2 —F+ZA=+—H 2,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRERE
At 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020, N—_E-ZTF—H—H -
1 January 2021 —E-EF+-A=+—81"
—E-—4%—H—H 1,196,485,700 119,649
Issue of shares upon share placement AR BLE R EITIRGD 1 40,008,000 4,001
At 31 December 2021 R-E-_—F+-_A=+—H 1,236,493,700 123,650
Note HiaF
1 On 25 June 2021, the Company entered into a placing agreement with a 1 RZZTZ—FA=Z+HEB - AAREE

ERIBET B BIRER0.4078 TR B AL
& % 75,000,000 FA%0.10/8 LA & 38
BRFBIREENLERHE - N=T=—
F+ 5 =+H - 40,008,0008% %15 A 2%
REEAT - SRR 5 8175 2 £9363,000
PETLIE - BEATIRD 2w B 4911,639,000/%
TEFARR R Z B EERR -

placing agent in respect of the placement of up to 75,000,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each to independent investors at a price of HK$0.40
per share. On 20 July 2021, 40,008,000 shares were issued and allotted,
after netting off the share issue expenses of approximately HK$363,000,
the premium on the issue of shares amounted to approximately
HK$11,639,000 was credited to the Company’s share premium account.

Capital management

The Group’s primary objective when managing capital is to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can
continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders, by pricing products and services commensurately with the
level of risk and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost. The
Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and to maximise the return to the
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it,
in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the payment of dividends, issue
new shares, buyback shares, raise new debts, redeem existing debts or
sell assets to reduce debts.

'I 20 Tesson Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 g2 —F -~ —F+ _H=+—HIFZE

32. RESERVES 32. #1E
(a) The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein are (a) AEBzHEE2EMESHFIBENALR
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other AEFEMHEMEEBGER MEARERR
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of changes in BRI o
equity.
(b) Reserves of the Company (b) AATZfFEE
Capital Share-based  Convertible
Share  redemption  Contributed payment bond  Accumulated
premium reserve surplus reserve reserve losses Total

WA TRERS
Bl RARORE — RARG ERAHERE BE  ZHER it
HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HKBOOO  HKSOO0  HKSOO0  HKSO000
TAT TET TET TAT TAT TAT TAT

At 1 January 2020 R-E-FE-f-H 826,773 624 29,509 6,594 15,983 (413,194) 466,289
Profit for the year TEEET - - - - - 375,075 375,075
Release upon expiry of convertible EFTAREER NG
option on bonds i - - - - (15,983) 16,983 -
Lapse of share options B - - - (344 - 344 -
At 31 December 2020 and i S iy
1 January 2021 Zt-AR=5=-%
-A-H 826,773 624 29,509 6,250 - 21,79 841,364
Loss for the year TEEFR = = = = = (234,207) (234,207)
Issue of shares upon share placement BRI T ERETR (D 11,639 - - - - - 11,639
Lapse of share options ERER - = = (6,250) - 6,250 =
At 31 December 2021 S —d
+-R=+-7 838412 624 20,500 . - pioT4) 61879
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group (c) AEEREBEZMEERAZ
() Share premium ) RBE
Share premium represents premium arising from the issue of I s B4 BiZ BB EREE
shares at a price in excess of their par value per share and is ZEWRBETRGOMESE 2K
not distributable but may be applied in paying up unissued & BB - MHEATAEE
shares of the Company to be issued to the shareholders of ARz RAEETT
the Company as fully paid bonus shares or in providing for ARARIRER Z AR RIARZEITH
the premiums payable on repurchase of shares. AR NER RN ERNZ
(i) Capital redemption reserve (i) RAFEEIE
Capital redemption reserve arose from the reduction of the % 2N B B % 8 T H AN A B RE 88
nominal value of the issued share capital of the Company BE RN < EBITRAEER
upon the cancellation of the repurchased shares. DMEELE o

R —FERE REZERERAT 12



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

32. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(c)

Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group
(Continued)

(i)

(v)

v)

Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents the difference between the
nominal value of the shares of the acquired subsidiaries and
the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for the
acquisition at the time of the group reorganisation in 1998.

Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve represents the fair value of
the actual or estimated number of unexercised share options
granted to employees and directors of the Group recognised
in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for share-
based payments in Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
difference between the consolidated shareholders’ funds
of Kith Limited at the date on which it was acquired by
the Company, and the nominal amount of the Company’s
shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the group
reorganisation in 1998.

Under the Companies Act of Bermuda, the contributed
surplus account of the Company is available for distribution.
However the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or
make a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

- it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or

- the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share
capital and share premium accounts.

1 22 Tesson Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

32. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(c)

Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group
(Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set out
in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Asset revaluation reserve

Assets revaluation reserve has been set up and are dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policies adopted for
property, plant and equipment in Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Convertible bond equity reserve

The convertible bonds equity reserve represents the value
of the unexercised equity component of convertible bonds
issued by the Company recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for convertible bonds in Note 4 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Other reserve

Other reserves represent the amount of enterprise expansion
fund capitalised by the relevant PRC subsidiaries and the
difference between the net proceeds received or paid after
deducting the transaction costs and the adjustment to the
non-controlling interests resulted from the equity transaction
with non-controlling interests.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e AR B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #ZE_-—F - —F 1+ _-H=+—HIFFZF

33. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants
include the full-time and part-time employees, executives, officers,
directors, business consultants, agents, legal and financial advisers of
the Company and the Company’s subsidiaries. The Scheme became
effective on 13 June 2012 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted
to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their
exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at 23 May
2017. The maximum number of shares issuable under the Scheme to
each eligible participant within any 12-month period, is limited to 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue as at 23 May 2017. Any further
grant of shares options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

Details of the share options are as follows:

33. UEREE 2 BRETS

ARAREBRETS(T5T8])  EER
BEERRARERB ZRINIELERZ
RERSEE - GER2BAEREARF
EARRBMBAR 2B RBES - 17
HAR - L BF - XHEM - KEF -
EREMBERE - SER T %A
T=RAREY  BRIEZBEUHNKER - &
AIEZBRTFANAER -

RIBEAE BRARBZARITEBRER
BRZAHSENEETERERRRN
T—tFREAZT=ZRAZEETRHZ
10% ° RER+—EAHEAR - RigstE
BUABRSBAERNEZITHRNESH
B UARARARZZ—EFRA=-+=H
ZEBETRNII1%RIE o ERFEIMREE
AR BRBREBERRAS LERR
Bk o

BRIEZFBRNT

Weighted
average Number of
exercise price share options

I
TEE BREHE

HK$

B

Outstanding at 1 January 2020

RZE_TF— A —BRTE

0.85 15,300,000

Lapsed during the year FANE KK 0.85 (800,000)
Outstanding at 31 December 2020 and RZZE-_FF+_A=+—HK

1 January 2021 —E-—%—A—RAXIE 0.85 14,500,000
Lapsed during the year FRE LA 0.85 (14,500,000)
Outstanding at 31 December 2021 R-ZT——F+ - A=+—HRKTFE - -
Exercisable at AT B EBR 7 T{E

31 December 2020 —E_EF+_H=+—H 14,500,000

31 December 2021 —E=—F+=H=+—H -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #ZE - F - —F 1+ _-H=+—HIFZF

33. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE OPTION SCHEME 33. LlifEsdSaE < BIRERT 8 (&)
(CONTINUED)

Details of the specific categories of options are as follows: REASHE 7 BEEFERIEIE T -
Categories Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price
Yl R A R T TEE
HK$
BT
2016A 11/11/2016 1 year 11/11/2017 to 10/11/2021 0.85
—E—RNFA —E-XFt+—A+—H 16 —tF+—A+—H=
—ZE-_—%+—H+H
2016B 11/11/2016 2 years 11/11/2018 to 10/11/2021 0.85
—E-RFB ZE—RFT—HA+—H 2F Z—-N\EF+—H+—HZE
—E-—%+—HA+H
2016C 11/11/2016 3 years 11/11/2019 to 10/11/2021 0.85
—E—RFC - "F+—A+—H 3%F —NWF+—A+—H=

—E-—%+—A+H

The options outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted average
remaining contractual life of nil years (2020: 0.86 years) and the exercise
price is HK$0.85 (2020: HK$0.85). The share options were granted on
11 November 2016. The estimated fair values of the options on those
dates are approximately HK$10,473,000.

These fair values were calculated using the Binomial model. The inputs
into the model are as follows:

Weighted average share price HK$0.85
Weighted average exercise price HK$0.85
Expected volatility 63%
Expected life 2-4 years
Risk free rate 0.84%
Expected dividend yield 0%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility
of the Company’s share price over the previous 4 years. The expected
life used in the model has been adjusted, based on the Group’s best
estimate, for the effects of non transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioural considerations.

—EC-FERE

FRARTEBREZMEFEHHTELH
HRASFE(ZE-ZF : 0.86F ) K1TE
BEROSSEBIL(ZE_ZF : 0.8587L) °
BREER-_Z—XR"F+—A+—BE
e BRERZSAHZENRAFENS
10,473,000/ 7T °

ZERATFEAZENENGE - EX 28
AZBIT

InEFHRRE 0.85% 7T
IniEFEHITEE 0.85% 7T
TEHRIR I8 63%
TEHAF IR 2-4%F
4 [ f A1) 2R 0.84%
TEHRRR B e = 0%

BHIK RSB AR RIEEAFRENE
SEREmMEE - RANMAEHRFREE
RARE 2 HEGFAAEE - TER
HIRITRMENEBERENTZEFELAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BT ER B MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #ZE_-—F - —F 1+ _-H=+—HIFFZF

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 34. MERERERMTE
OF CASH FLOWS

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities BMETEHELECEEEE
The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities arising from TR EFRNAEEFRE TS EELEZBE
financing activities during the year: BHE
Amount
due to the Total liabilities
Lease Controlling Convertible from financing
liabilities Borrowings  Shareholder bonds activities
R MEEE
HEEE &E RRRR TERES afEaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
7B FET FET FHET FET
At 1 January 2020 RZZEZEF—-A—H 26,738 263,784 52,495 43,893 386,910
Changes in cash flows Bengs (8,463) (22,508) (56,498) (60,000) (147,469
Non-cash changes R 2
Loss on early redemption of REERWMARESRZ
Convertible Bonds B8 - - - 15,706 15,706
Interest expenses FERZ 1,575 20,338 2,893 = 24,806
Imputed interest expense HEF BRY = = = 1,579 1,579
Interest payable TERAIE - (20,338) 1,178 (1,178) (20,338)
Currency realignment AR 885 9,736 - - 10,621
At 31 December 2020 and N-E-EF+-A=+—H
1 January 2021 k=—F-_—F—F—H 20,735 251,012 68 - 271,815
Changes in cash flows Bened (4,687) (48,276) (28) - (52,991)
Non-cash changes FReE
Interest expenses FERAZ 1,727 20,346 - - 22,073
Interest payable FENFIE - (20,346) - - (20,346)
Currency realignment R 4,723 4,784 1 = 9,508
At 31 December 2021 R_E_—5+_A=+—H 22,498 207,520 4 - 230,059

'I 26 Tesson Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 g2 —F -~ —F+ _H=+—HIFZE

35. SUMMARISED FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 35. XA R M BMRRBE

COMPANY
2021 2020
—E-—fF —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RETB AR ZIEE 8 44,089
Current assets RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEWBI B AR 28R 870,808 1,029,078
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments — EfthEUBRTL « 5] & RFEFRIE 941 656
Bank and cash balances RITRIR S E5 76 980
871,825 1,030,714
Current liabilities RBAaE
Accruals and other payables FEET B A R B A FETBR K 36,697 28,722
Amounts due to subsidiaries JERTHI B A RIBR IR 175 -
Amount due to the Controlling Shareholder FE 152 e AR AR BR K 7,515 68
Other borrowings HibfgE 85,000 85,000
129,387 113,790
Net current assets REEEFE 742,438 916,924
NET ASSETS EEFE 742,446 961,013
Capital and reserves BEARRF#E
Share capital R& N 123,650 119,649
Reserves (] 618,796 841,364
TOTAL EQUITY FEREEE 742,446 961,013
—ECEEHE xEgREARAT 107



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR E MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021

36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

37.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group and the Company did not
have any significant contingent liabilities (2020: Nil).

LITIGATIONS

As at 31 December 2021, certain subsidiaries of the Company were
involved in litigation or claims of material importance arising in the
ordinary course of business as follows:

On 25 October 2021, Tesson Shenzhen, a subsidiary of the
Company, filed a claim with the People’s Court in Bao An district,
Shenzhen city, against a supplier (the “Supplier”), claiming for the
repayment of purchase of equipments at the amount of approximately
RMB11,069,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$13,562,000) and
penalty of approximately RMB6,192,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$7,586,000). The Supplier counterclaimed against Tesson Shenzhen
for property loss of approximately RMB19,264,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$23,602,000) and other loss. As at the date of
approving these consolidated financial statements, the trial is still in
progress.

As at 31 December 2021, certain subsidiaries of the Group are
defendants on the lawsuits in addition to the abovementioned,
accordingly bank balances of these subsidiaries in total of approximately
RMB26,009,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$31,886,000) was
frozen by the court. The Group was also involved in a dispute on certain
investments in the subsidiaries with the non-controlling shareholders
of these subsidiaries. The Group’s management believed that the
claim was without merit and the possibility of a significant loss arising
from the dispute was remote and therefore no provision of the claims
was considered necessary. Save as disclosed above, during the year
ended 31 December 2021, no member of the Group is subject to any
litigation, arbitration or claim of material importance and no litigation or
claim of material importance is known to the Directors to be pending or
threatened against any member of the Group.

'I 28 Tesson Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 g2 —F -~ —F+ _H=+—HIFZE

38. LEASE COMMITMENTS 38. HEHAIE
The Group as lessor rEBIEAHEER
At the end of the year, the Group had contracted with tenants for the RER » NREBBEB PRI A TRRHKE
following future minimum lease payments: MENFER :
2021 2020
—EBZ—fF —E-THF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Within one year —F R 1,717 835
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_FEERF(RREBEEWT) 8,995 3,654
After five years AFE 10,107 3,486
20,819 7,975
39. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 39. EAREIE
The Group’s capital commitments at the end of the year are as follows: RER » REBZEARFEENMT :
2021 2020
—E-—F —ECTHF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FETT FET
Contracted but not provided for B RTAE R BHE
— Property, plant and equipment — % - BB R 40,462 40,435
40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40. BAEALRS
2021 2020
—B-—F —TEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest expenses on Convertible Bonds and B[R (EH & E (NI IRER R 2
amount due to the Controlling Shareholder B - 4402
Key management personnel remuneration TEEE A B ZHEN
The emoluments of the Company’s Directors, who are also identified as AARES(FAENTMEAEETESEE 2
members of key management of the Group, are set out in Note 14. KB ) ZEEENMizE14 -
B -FERE xERRAERAE 120
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41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF 41. AARTEME AT 2 EH

THE COMPANY

The table below lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the TREVNEERASHAFEEEEASE
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for the year or A ENEBRAEBTERAETBELD 2
formed a substantial portion of the financial position of the Group. To KARIMBAR - EERA  WNHH|EM
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, WEBARZEE  2FERBRITE -

result in particulars of excessive length.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at the end of the RER ARBEEHB AR 2ERINT ¢
years are as follows:

Place of incorporation/ Percentage of the Company’s
Name registration Issued/paid-up capital indirect ownership interest  Principal activities
£# AL/ B/ ARRA ARABRREREAG  TEEE
Notes 2021 2020
it Z8--§  “E°%

AR ERAR 1 ThePRC RMB850,000,000 95.00% 95.00%  Trading of ithium fon battery
products

Tesson New Energy (Shen Zhen) Limited hE A 850,000,0007T BERETENER

REFHRERAT 2 ThePRC RMB1,000,000,000 64.60% 64.60%  Manufacturing of ithium ion
battery products

Tesson New Energy Company Limited" H ARE4,000,000,0007C LEERTEMER

AENERRRERERAR 2 ThePRC RMB150,000,000 81.32% 81.32%  Research and development centre

Tesson New Energy Research (Nanjing) Limited® th AR150,000,0007 e

BRAMEEREBRAR 2 ThePRC RMB200,000,000 64.60% 64.60%  Property holding

Nanjing Rongzhou Cultural Industry Investment Company Limited G AR%200,000,0007C IE2

BEmAMREBRAR 2 ThePRC RMB20,000,000 40.92% 4092%  Property development

Nanchang Rongzhou Investment Company Limited* i AE%20,00000070 IES

BERMLERARAR 2 ThePRC RMB20,000,000 61.37% 61.37%  Property development

Nanjing Rongzhou Cutural Broadcasting Company Limited it AKH20,000,00070 MEER

EMERESERAA 2 ThePRC RMB5,836,735 31.30% 31.30%  Cultural senvice

Guangzhou Lingzhong Advertising Company Limited i NE#5,836,7357C pqd:iv

REHeeR (58 ARAR 2 ThePRC RMBA450,000,000 95.00% 95.00%  Manufacturing of thium ion
battery products

Tessan New Energy (Welnan) Limited B AR 450,000,000 EERTENER

Notes Htat

1. The company is a sino-foreign equity joint venture established in the PRC. 1. ZRRIRRFBIBIAPINGERE o

2. These companies are limited liability company established in the PRC. 2. WERRARFEKZIFNERAR -
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41.

Nanchang Tesson New Energy
Name Investment Company Limited”
28 MERE REFHERERATN
2021 2020 2021 2020
ZB--F _T2F ZB-—F _T_FTF
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$’000
FETT FET FAETT FET
Principal place of business and country FEEBLEME K PRC PRC
of incorporation Eaiip AVACIES FE e
% of ownership interests and voting EERERIEE SR
rights held by NCI RS IIREE
B2 (%) 59.08% 59.08% 35.40% 35.40%
At 31 December: R+=—A=+—8:
Non-current assets IERBEE 46,191 23,682 411,729 545,050
Current assets RENEE 784,394 670,930 483,152 238,323
Current liabilities mENAE (800,628) (660,676) (863,441) (288,246)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (4,220) (3,527) 17,498 (9,068)
Net assets BEFE 25,737 30,409 48,938 486,059
Accumulated NCI RS 15,205 17,966 17,324 172,064
Year ended 31 December: BZ+=-—A=+—H
LEE:
Revenue e 537 603,833 157,691 149,171
(Loss)/profit for the year RNFE (EB), =75 (5,597) 206,116  (291,134)  (86,411)
Total comprehensive (loss) income 2HE(EE) Wa=iBsE (5,597) 206,116  (193,914)  (60,494)
(Loss)/profit allocated to NCI DEEEIEERERS 2
(&B18), /&7 (3,307) 121,773 (103,061)  (30,589)
Dividends distributed to NCI E DIk T IR
A% 2 - = - =
Net cash used in operating activities KB EENFT R 2 IS R (336,620)  (74,477) (119,052) (7,517)
Net cash (used in)/generated from REEE (A,
investing activities 8 2 3E &85 (2,736) 10,989 16,171 444
Net cash generated from financing activites gi& /& ENAT15 2 35 & /558 340,271 54,857 101,432 185,287
Net increse/(decrease) in cash and RekReEEMZ
cash equivalents 0 Opd ) 558 915 (8,631) (1,449) 178,214
A included its subsidiaries A BEEREBAR
42. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 42. #{LESREMKRE
STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for GEVBERECHRESENRN T _Fh
issue by the Board of Directors on 31 May 2022. A=+—B#fEREERE -
—E_—FERE REERBIRA R ’]8’]

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have non-
controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group as at 31 December
2021. The summarised financial information represents amounts before
inter-company eliminations.

e B AR B BEE

B E - —F A A= —HIFFE
4. XRFIFEMBARIZER (&)

TRIWFKARZE-_—F+_A=+—8#%
BHAEBEMEBEARZIEERERE( 3
BERER ) B ARZER - BAME
BERHEEEA R RIFIEEAT 2 £ -




SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES

YE

PROPERTIES FOR SALES UNDER DEVELOPMENT BREPSEYE
Approximate  Approximate
sitearea  gross floor area Group’s Year of completion/
Location Purpose (sq.m.) (sqm.) interest  Stage of completion expected completion
B4
BOSHER  LREER =R/ Bt
ik i3 (FHK) (FHK) ARERE THEE TREE
Rongzhou Gangjiucheng, Wuhuazhong Road, Residential and commercial 99973 373,740 40.92%  Under development 2018-2022
South of 320 National Highway, Wangcheng New Distrct, £ 7% ERe “E-\EE-FCCE
Nanchang City, Jiangxi Province, PRC*
hEIEAmETHRE ZHE0EE
BENERERMEAS
Fengxiang Terrace-Rongzhou Cultural Centre, Residential and commercial 13,148 85,215 61.37%  Under development 2022
North of Fengling Section, Minzu Avenue, Qingxiu District, k7% ERe e 2

Nanning, Guangxi, PRC*
PERRRETEARREAEREALE
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